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Tuesday, September 20, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  I don't know if anything has come up, any preliminary matters, Mr. Smith.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  One preliminary matter, members of the Board.  The Union witnesses were able to do some work last night on Mr. Quinn's request, J1.5, and they have been able to pull something together.  It's not entirely what Mr. Quinn had hoped for, in that the exhibit -- the data as reflected on the undertaking is for the year 2004, 2005, and 2006 is per B3.4.  It does not include resource optimization activities, because Union didn't track those at the time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.

I am going to have to take a look at this.  I am, I guess, baffled by the margin.  I guess I had offered Union the opportunity to present it, in terms of margin, which was consistent with the undertakings that were provided in NGEIR.  May I ask, was that attempt undertaken?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think the primary attempt was made to answer the question that you had asked as originally framed and to see that -- to do the best job that we can.  You can feel free to explore the matter with the witnesses, but we certainly tried to get you the information within the confines of what Union has available and the time permitted.

As I understand it, a number of -- even to the extent Union has information, it would require a physical review of all of the underlying contracts back from 2004 and 2005 to pull the data out, and I don't think that that -- it wasn't possible in the time permitted.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

Mr. Quinn, why don't you take that information that you have and digest it somewhat, and then if there's a -- if you are able to do any cross on it now or further discovery, obviously, as Mr. Smith points out, attempt to get your information that way, and we will see where we go.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.  And if I may have, depending on our timing, some consideration at the break to talk to other people that are looking at this with us, then I can maybe come back with a different request, if that's helpful for the Board.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be fine.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the Panel is ready for you to continue, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir, thank you.
UNION GAS – PANEL 2, RESUMED

Russell Feingold; Previously sworn.

Greg Tetrault; Previously sworn.

Pat Elliott; Previously sworn.

Mark Isherwood; Previously sworn.

Carol Cameron; Previously sworn.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  I am going to try to take this in order.  We started to ask a few questions yesterday on different topics, and I was deferred to Mr. Isherwood to get some explanations so we had some context, and then ideally we could get some more answers to understand how Union has viewed some of these topics.

So the first broad area I want to talk about is resource optimization.  Mr. Isherwood, can you, again, in high-level terms describe two aspects of resource optimization that were discussed yesterday, gas loans and space encroachment?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I will give an example of both, if that helps.  In terms of doing gas loans, when we sell peak storage we are really trying to sell storage across October 31st.  That's considered to be our peak storage day.  That's the day we target to have our storage essentially full, from an operating point of view, at least.

So if we can find a way to get gas off of our system on October 31st, we can actually create space.  So the way we do that -- and the example I gave yesterday was we would actually take, with a counter-party, we would give them gas in July or August, sometimes or both months, and we would ask them to return that gas to us in, for example, November/December.

And by taking the gas off -- and let's use a round number of a BCF in July and August -- it's off of our system, it's gone somewhere else in the market, it's not in our storage pool at all, and therefore in September and October it's not in our system, so we can go out and actually sell that space again, and -- that 1 BCF space, and when the gas comes back in November/December we are back to being whole again.  We are no different than we were back in July and August, other than we have an extra BCF we sold of capacity.  And the reason it can come back in in November and December is because of some heating load that comes on in late fall/early winter.  It actually creates -- that will create the space for this new BCF, comes back into.

As I mentioned yesterday, we would take that creation of space in the first year, and if you want to use the example the fall of 2010, and we would marry that with an expiring storage contract that would normally come due April 1st.  So we use that resource loan to create the space the first year of a two- or three-year contract, and we'd use an expiring contract to marry it up to, to use for the second and third year of the contract, or the second year, depending on how long we sold it for.

But in those cases are always sold for at least two years, and sometimes -- sometimes longer.  But the resource gas loan is only used in the -- to create the space in the first year.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that, and I asked for the second, but I am going to ask to just get clarification. In gas loans that Union Gas does, does Union still do back-to-back loans that would be less than two years?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would do the loan -- in that example I gave would be -- in the same year, it would be -- gas would leave the system in July and August of 2010, for example, come back in November/December of 2010.  We would marry that to expiring contracts in 2011 to get a two- or three-year term.

MR. QUINN:  And I understand the distinction you are making, but I guess that's one example you have given us as to how the gas loan creates the opportunity for long-term space.

I am asking more broadly, does Union still do less than two-year gas loans back-to-back?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure what you mean by "back-to-back".

MR. QUINN:  Where you have done, in the example you gave, a July-December type of scenario, and then you back-to-back that with space that is available on a shorter-term basis, less than two years.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, we do not.  So when we do a resource gas loan, we would always marry that to
expiring -- so that would be the first year of the contract.  We would marry that with expiring contracts.  That would give us a term of two years or longer.

MR. QUINN:  And then that's what you call the resource optimization specifically.  But are you telling us that Union does not do any deals that are less than two years to optimize space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We will sometimes do a loan if we are -- I will give you another example.  If we do the gas loan from July to December or July to November, if we find it's a really mild fall, what can happen is we get too much gas coming into the system in November, and so if you have the original gas now coming back -- sorry, the loan coming back to us in November, and there's no spot to put it because it's been mild, in that case we have too much gas in our system, and to manage that and operation-manage that, we would at that point do a loan from November into January or February.  That would be an example of doing one shorter-term.

MR. QUINN:  And in that example can you tell me how the costs are handled -- sorry, revenues and costs?

MS. ELLIOTT:  If a loan is entered into and it is a cost, it's entered into to create space, that cost goes against the revenue in the long-term deferral account.  If a loan is entered into that generates revenue, that revenue is recorded as part of the transactions that are subject to deferral in the short-term deferral and other balancing deferral account.

MR. QUINN:  So if I am understanding the second example you have given, Mr. Isherwood, you have -- you -- I think the scenario you created that it was warm in November and therefore storage is filling up and you don't really have room for it, how do you assess that room?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We assess it based on what our target fill would be for that point in time.

MR. QUINN:  Is that on an integrated basis?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's always on an integrated basis.

MR. QUINN:  So you are saying the utility and non-utility space is over target.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Utility space will always be on target, because we have full control over that, so our gas supply plan ensures that October 31st our supply is full, and from a direct purchase point of view, those that are bundled customers, they have a contractual obligation in September to be on target, as well.  So our assumption is in-franchise customers are at target.

What may not be at target in November is, if it's still mild, that is obviously a deviation from where you are supposed to be.

MR. QUINN:  So it's a deviation from where you should be, and you enter into a deal such as that, are the costs handled the same way as Ms. Elliott laid out?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Any time a loan has costs incurred, those costs are reflected against the long-term revenue.

MR. QUINN:  So if you are above target for your utility operations and you enter a loan to try to mitigate that position, you are still allocating the cost to the non-utility long-term storage account?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think, Mr. Quinn, at a high level, the non-utility customers are the ones that are deviating and requiring an activity to move gas off the system for another month or two.  From the point of view of the utility customers, as you know, there is contingency space that allows for that warm November scenario.  So unless you deviated beyond that, which would be highly unlikely, I wouldn't expect there to be a cost in adjusting the utility customers.

MR. QUINN:  That's helpful.  We will get to contingency space later on, as that came up yesterday.

Maybe if I can ask you can move on to a definition of space encroachment.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Space encroachment is, if you look at our non-utility business and if you look at that business over a number of years, the trend that you see is, in total, the non-utility customers do not always fill their capacity full.  So there is an opportunity to take the stuff -- sorry, the storage space that's not filled and resell that in the market.

It's not unlike Air Canada selling extra seats, trying to keep the plane full.  They sell extra seats to try and optimize their fixed costs, as well.  And we do the same with space.

Having said that, if there an issue where we sell space because of that type of encroachment, and the other customer does show up, then it's the non-utility business that takes that risk, and we would have to, again, move gas off the system or do something to mitigate the physical impact.

MR. QUINN:  So if I understand what you are relating to us, you essentially are -- well, I don't want to put word in your mouth, so I will ask the question.

Are you accounting for this with two separate sets of books, for the space for non-utility and utility?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We only encroach on non-utility space.

MR. QUINN:  So to be able to determine it, are you tracking utility space different from non-utility space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  What we are actually tracking is we know the contracts that make up, in total, the non-utility space, so we are actually following those contracts throughout the injection season to see if there is any room left towards the end of the season to do that type of encroachment.  So it's really focussed on the non-utility customers.

MR. QUINN:  It may be focussed on the non-utility customers, but how are you tracking the utility position?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  In that case, we are not, because we are not encroaching on the utility position; we are encroaching on the non-utility position.

MR. QUINN:  I understand, again, the distinction, but when you determine that storage is more full on an integrated basis, how do you know if it is the utility that's long or it's the non-utility that's long?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, if we are encroaching on space, it's because it's partially empty, not long.  When we are encroaching on space, it's because we are following whatever there is.  Call it 20 customers that make up the non-utility ex-franchise storage customers, and we are following those 20 contracts in detail, day to day to day, to see where they are in their fill pattern.

And towards the end of the season, we will make a call that we can encroach or not encroach.  We can make a call well in advance, knowing that historically they don't fill contracts.

This is opposite of what we talked about in terms of gas loans.  In this case, we are actually encroaching on space that is not full.

MR. QUINN:  I understood that, and that is why I was going to allow you to finish, but I had gone back to the gas loan scenario when you were long, when you had found that in November it was milder than expected and there is too much gas in storage or planned to be in storage.

How do you determine who is responsible for that?  How do you determine whether you use the system integrity space, or you must do a gas loan?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, we are able to track the non-utility customers independent of the utility customers, so we would know -- we would know what the problem is and where it's being created or caused.

MR. QUINN:  So prior to the NGEIR decision, did Union entertain those similar types of deals?  They may not have had separate accounting, but did you do both gas loans and space encroachment prior to the NGEIR decision?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes, we did some encroachment and some gas loans.

MR. QUINN:  So there was an undertaking where the amount of resource optimization was provided in the winter of 2006, 2007.  I don't have it handy, but that would reflect gas loans and space encroachment prior to NGEIR?

MS. CAMERON:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then if I may ask you to turn up page 5 of your reply evidence that was submitted fairly recently -- I don't have the date on it -- but reply evidence to our intervenor evidence?

MS. CAMERON:  I have it.

MS. SEBALJ:  For the record, it's been marked as K1.9.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, thank you.

MS. CAMERON:  I have it.

MR. QUINN:  So at the bottom of that page, it says:

"If optimization space is to be included in this allocation, there must be the associated optimization revenues, costs and risks."

Stopping there, what are the risks of this optimization that you are referring to?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is similar to what I just described.

To the extent you are encroaching on someone else's space, if that customer shows up, they are obviously entitled to that space.  So to the extent you've sold space that somebody else is entitled to, it's not like me showing up at the Air Canada gate when the other ticket shows up at the gate, and Air Canada has to solve that problem.  They have to pay somebody to wait to a different time.

So it's very similar example.  So the risk would be that you have sold space twice, and both customers need the space on the same day.  So you have to do something to manage that risk.

MR. QUINN:  So they both arrive to Union and they nominate into storage, and Union doesn't have enough storage that day?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's right.

MR. QUINN:  Does Union act immediately in that day to sell whatever quantity of space that is necessary to accommodate these customers?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yeah.  We wouldn't look at it so much, Mr. Quinn, on a day-to-day basis.  We are looking at it more from a trend point of view.

MR. QUINN:  But to the extent that they have a demand right, so they nominate to their storage, and again, using your example, they both arrive at the gate at the same with the same ticket for the same seat, what does Union do to allow both to enter the plane?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The critical day for us is October 31st, so if they are both showing up on October 31st, then we need to do something to move –- and I use that date as a kind of a line in the sand.  Obviously, if we saw the trend happening a week or two before that, we would act sooner, but if they are both trying to be full on October 31st, then we would have to move gas off the system.

MR. QUINN:  Immediately?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Pardon me?

MR. QUINN:  Immediately?  Like, how long does it take to go get a price?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would, again, look at the trends, and the sooner we saw the trend emerging, and the sooner we acted, the better it would be.

MR. QUINN:  But to define risk in this case, you are not anticipating that they would need the space; that's why you have sold it twice.  They both arrive, they both nominated for the day.  How do you allow for --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Nominating for the day in September is not the issue.  The issue would be if they kept nominating in September and October, and were aiming at the same time to be full on October 31st.

MR. QUINN:  But as a risk, you are surprised by the fact they both have asked for it.  I am not saying September; I am saying the last week of October.  It's not October 31st.  You haven't done that assessment.

How do both get access to the space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They both would have access to the space.  What would be happening behind the scenes is if Union thought there would be a risk of us being full before October 31st –- i.e., they both came in October 29th or something -- we would be moving gas off the system in advance of that.  We would not wait until the last day to take action, in other words.

MR. QUINN:  But again, I am creating a scenario whereby you are surprised by the fact, because in the first place you didn't anticipate they were going to use it.  I am trying to understand how that demand rate is accommodated on that day.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure there is much more I can provide.  We would look at the trend in advance, and we would -- seeing if it's going to -- if they are heading towards being full at the same time we would take action a week or two or a month in advance.  We watch inventory very closely from -- well, always, but especially in the last few weeks of October.

MR. QUINN:  In any forecasting there is a range of error that occurs, and when you have made that error and maybe have not moved the gas to create the space, what happens?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  You have to move the gas to move the space, to create the space.

MR. QUINN:  How --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have a firm obligation to both customers, so we need to make sure we can abide to that obligation.

MR. QUINN:  I guess what my concern would be is, can you demonstrate that you are not using the contingency space to allow both to have access that day and then make mitigating deals after the fact?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure whether the mitigating deal would be after the fact.  So in order to create space, you need to do it before the issue happens.  So we would have to act in advance of October 31st.

MR. QUINN:  So you have never been 100 percent full in your long-term storage account?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not to my knowledge.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have records for the last three years since you have been managing this, what the balances were through the month of October?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I can certainly get you last year's number.  I know it was a fairly large number.  We are just not sure, the number I have in the back of my mind, what it all includes, so what we need to include is ex-franchise empty, not empty.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I would like, if you would, to undertake the last three years.  One year is a snapshot.  You've been doing this for three years.  I understand you are tracking -- you have people, as you said, monitoring it very closely through the month of October, so to provide the balances, and if I may say, from October to November, for the long-term storage account.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The number that would be most helpful, I think, would be how empty we are, or full we are, on October 31st.  That's really the indicator.

MR. QUINN:  And we would ask that you go beyond that, so that we understand what the daily balance is and how that daily demand rate is managed on behalf of customers who have that demand right.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And you want in total?

MR. QUINN:  In total, relative to the space that was allocated.  So you can do it on a percentage basis, if there were 60 PJs of space allocated to the non-utility, provide that number, then provide either percentage or the actual quantity full, that would be helpful.

MR. SMITH:  I am sorry, I am not sure that I understand the significance of the request relative to allocation, if the question is from a cost allocation perspective.  I thought what we were talking about was how much space there was physically available on October 31st, not how much was in the cost allocation study.  I just want to make sure that if we are being given an undertaking, that we're not -- if it's clear both why the information is being sought and what is being sought.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, our concern, sir, is that it is an integrated storage pool.  There are transactions happening on a daily basis.  We have evolved in how we look at storage in Ontario, and during that time there has been this distinction, utility and non-utility.  I am just, for the record, ensuring that we have a separation that does not rely on space, like contingency space, that is referred to, that is paid for by utility customers, backstopping deals for the non-utility.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Understood.

MS. SEBALJ:  So we will mark it as J2.1.  I don't know, Mr. Quinn, if you can just for the record make clear what -- I sense we probably have three or four pages of transcript describing this undertaking, and I -- if we can do it in a concise way, that would be helpful.

MR. QUINN:  I will try to be concise, thank you.

For the gas years of three years, 2008, -9, and -10, provide the allocated non-utility storage space for that year, and then the balance of non-utility storage for each day, October through November, of those respective years.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE THE ALLOCATED NON-UTILITY STORAGE SPACE FOR 2008, 2009, AND 2010, AND ALSO THE BALANCE OF NON-UTILITY STORAGE FOR EACH DAY OF OCTOBER AND NOVEMBER OF THOSE YEARS

MR. QUESNELLE:  Having heard the undertaking, Mr. Smith...

MR. SMITH:  Well, I am not sure why we would provide the information on each day between October and November.  I mean, as I understand the cross-examination, the fundamental premise of my friend's question is not accepted.  The cross-examination proceeded upon the basis that there would come a point in time on October 31st when Union would, to its surprise, find itself without space, and as I understand Mr. Isherwood's responses in cross-examination, that doesn't happen.


And so I am not sure why we are being asked to provide the information on a daily basis for October, every day in October, and every day in November, when we know from an operational perspective, if there is a key date it's October 31st.

MR. QUESNELLE:  But what I heard from Mr. Isherwood, that things would happen in advance of the 31st, and it wouldn't necessarily be on that day.  I think what Mr. Quinn is looking for is -- wants to follow that trend and see what are the activities, what were the activities, that were taken in advance of October 31st to Mr. Isherwood's point that they wouldn't wait until that day.

Now, I am missing the significance of what happens post, in November, as we are leading up to this, and it seems to me that may not have the same illustrative merit in looking at November, but maybe you could explain further what your concern would be with the following of October 31st, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  October 31st is traditionally the day that we move from the summer schedule to the winter schedule or injection versus withdrawal, but the peak and storage doesn't necessarily always happen on October 31st.  It can happen in the middle of November.  And in fact, there are Union contracts that have interruptibility of rights for ex-franchise customers that lead into November, so that they have the option to, if the space isn't full October 31st, that they still wanted to have the space full going into the winter, they will undertake to do that up until the deemed point that the weather is taking over and now you are into a withdrawal season.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on the feasibility of pulling this together, Mr. Smith, is this...?

MR. SMITH:  I am not in a position to say off the top of my head.  I think Mr. Isherwood will just have to comment on whether or not he can do it in the time -- and how quickly, and I'd ask him to do so.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The data should be available.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

I think we have it clear on the record then, Ms. Sebalj.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, so it is J2.1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  So I will accept the premise at this point that you are only doing optimization with non-utility space.  And if I understand the previous testimony by this panel, that all of the 7.9 PJs which was deemed excess is being only sold short-term; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So what about the remaining in-franchise space?  Is it optimized?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess every year in our gas supply plan we calculate how much space the in-franchise customers need.  So the 7.9 number came from the cost allocation study, and as we said through our interrogatories in evidence, every year that number changes slightly.  It might be 8-point-something or 9-point-something.  So whatever the number is deemed not needed for in-franchise, we would optimize that.  But in terms of the core amount, we do not optimize it.

MR. QUINN:  I guess my concern would be, historically prior to NGEIR you optimized your storage space in totality; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the whole storage model, the whole framework, changed, fundamentally changed, at the NGEIR decision starting January 1st of '07, so I am not sure it is fair to compare what happened before and after.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, if we just stay with after, what I am understanding you to say is in-franchise space is not optimized.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Other than the part not required by the utility.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, and I guess my experience in the States is not as good -- as broad as Mr. Feingold, but Mr. Feingold, are you familiar with expectations by the jurisdictions in the States that speak to the management of utility assets and the expectation to optimize?

MR. FEINGOLD:  I am generally familiar, but I think one thing that I am hearing in this discussion is that the suggestion that if something is not optimized it's not being used in an efficient manner, and my experience in the States with regard to management of assets is that the utility is obligated to manage their assets in an efficient manner, but I am not sure that they necessarily go through the same optimization process that Mr. Isherwood talked about with regard to Union's storage.

So I don't want to leave the record suggesting that somehow the in-franchise storage is not being operated efficiently.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think I have explored this area enough.  I wanted to have an understanding and I will leave this area, with thanks for people's contribution.

And I wanted to move to the issue that Union deemed in its reply evidence, the cross-charge, but I want to refer, first, to Interrogatory B3.32.  If you would turn that up.

MS. ELLIOTT:  We have that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I myself was trying to get my laptop to respond.

In the attachment, Union specifies its in-franchise requirements, broken down by the different components, and would you agree with me that for the five years that are represented, the in-franchise storage has approximately 90 PJs of utilization?

MS. CAMERON:  That's confirmed.

MR. QUINN:  Now, in some of the discussions yesterday, Union stated that their belief is that the 100 PJs is a utility asset; am I correct in stating that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. QUINN:  If I could take you, then, to the NGEIR decision, page 104, and you can find it in Mr. Thompson's compendium.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Do you have a tab number, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  It would be K1.8.  Thank you.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think it's tab 1.  We have it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, in reading that section -- and I want to be specific about the section at the bottom of the page, "deemed board findings" -- I am just going to read that first sentence under the Board findings:

"The Board has determined that storage space in excess of the amount made available at cost-based rates, which is capped at 100 PJs, (see chapter 6), can be considered non-utility asset."

When you are defining utility space, you have defined that to be 100 PJs.  I guess my question is:  The excess, over and above the in-franchise needs that Union has calculated as 7.9 PJs, is that sold at cost-based rates?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it's sold at market-based rates, and subject to sharing in the deferral account, 179-70.

MR. QUINN:  So if I ask you to review that sentence, does the 7.9 PJs qualify as utility space on the reading of that sentence?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It qualifies as utility space.  It is a utility asset, but it is in excess of the in-franchise requirements.  And the space that the -- the utility space in excess of in-franchise requirements is sold at market prices and deferred, to be shared with the ratepayers in the short-term deferral account.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I need to break that down again.

So 7.9 PJs is sold at market; is that accurate?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The excess utility space is sold at market.  The 7.9 was the excess referenced in the NGEIR decision.  It will be closer to 10 at this point, as you point out.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess I am reading this sentence, and it says:

"The Board has determined that storage space in excess of the amount made available at cost-based rates... can be considered non-utility asset."

So is it the Board's deeming that 7.9 PJs is utility asset, or is it Union's?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  When I read that sentence, Mr. Quinn, there is also some words in brackets that caps it at 100.  So the sentence goes on to say can be sold as non-utility assets, is referencing anything above 100 can be sold as non-utility assets.

MR. QUINN:  But I guess I am reading specifically what the Board has ordered, and it says the space in -- the amount available at cost-based rates.

If I started with IRB 3.32, where you have quantified the amount of space for each of the respective years, my understanding is that you have an amount of space that is embedded as cost-based rates for in-franchise customers; is that accurate?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So that would be utility space?

MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  So the excess above what you have in rates is sold at market-based rates?

MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  So what I am reading this to say, it can be considered non-utility asset; is that not accurate?

MR. SMITH:  With great respect to my friend, my friend is putting a portion of the decision at page 104 to the witnesses, under the heading "Margins on Long-Term Transactions."

He is not putting the portion to the witnesses several pages earlier, which is not in Mr. Thompson's materials -- well, maybe it is -- pages 99 through to 101, which talk about the short-term account.  Nor is he putting to the witnesses the reference at page 104, which deals with chapter 6, which specifically reserves the 100 PJs as a utility asset.

So I think if my friend wants to make the point based on the NGEIR decision, he has to put the passages that deal with this issue to the witnesses, and get their reaction to it.

He has already elicited from them what, operationally, Union is doing, and if he wants to make further argument, he can make further argument based on the NGEIR decision, but further cross-examination on this point, I think, is unfair.

MR. QUINN:  Maybe I will be a little more concise here, and I'll ask a specific question, if I may, to the panel.

Ms. Elliott, you said that the NGEIR decision said that 7.9 PJs is utility space.  Can you find in the NGEIR decision that reference?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, I said that was in excess of the utility requirements.

The utility asset -- what we have done is left the assets for 100 PJs of space in the utility, and taken the assets for the difference between our actual working requirement and the 100 PJs to the non-utility.

So our first separation took out non-utility assets, but left 100 PJs of assets with the utility.

The utility does not require 100 PJs of space at this point in time, and in 2007 rates, the excess was 7.9 PJs.  The cost of the 7.9 PJs in 2007 rates was assigned to the C1 rate class and sold at market price.

The NGEIR decision came along and capped the 100 PJs, and we took the cost of that 7.9 PJs of excess space against the short-term revenue that was generated by selling that space at market prices.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess that's a very comprehensive definition of the actions Union has taken, but I read in here that it can be considered a non-utility asset.

I am just asking if Union can provide the specific reference where it says that Union should do this, or should transfer the costs associated with it through the deferral accounts back to ratepayers.

MS. ELLIOTT:  The NGEIR decision wasn't specific in the treatment of the deferral account costs.  The reference at page 101 of the NGEIR decision talks about the utility asset to a maximum of 100 PJs; that's what we have left with the utility.

We have taken the cost of that 7.9 PJs, which is the cross-charge, as a non-utility cost, but in terms of fixed assets, storage capacity that Union owns, we have set aside 100 PJs for the utility customers, with the agreement that the non-utility operation would sell the excess at market price and share it through the short-term deferral account.

MR. QUINN:  So in spite of it saying it can be considered a non-utility asset, Union has chosen this methodology.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, could I -- I just, I think we are at a little bit of cross-purposes here.  I am seeing two different elements here, two different things, totally.  And perhaps we can just have Ms. Elliott go over this again, but what I am understanding is that there is the 100 PJs of asset, which is utility, and to the extent that there is always a variance in utility needs within that 100, the delta between the current need and the 100 sets up an excess amount of storage.  That is not necessarily the amount over 100 PJ, as what is described here.


The excess amount -- of amount made available at cost-based rates, which is capped at 100, I am seeing that as something over and above the 100, and that would be purely to the benefit of the shareholder.

The difference, the delta between what is required and the 100, is the 7.9 that I think is being spoken of, and the terminology, which is similar but not exactly the same, is that it's in excess of the recurrent requirement.  Have I got that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You do.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And I think that I just -- we seem to be going at something that just -- I think fundamentally we are searching for something at a cross-purposes here of definition, and I am wondering, do you accept that differentiation, Mr. Quinn, that what is spoken of here is an amount describing the asset over 100, as opposed to, within that asset of 100 PJ, a difference between what is the current requirement and the total asset, or what the capacity of that asset can -- that could be used for?

MR. QUINN:  I accept your reading, sir, and I guess it is an interpretive issue which I guess we can remain -- we can leave the rest for argument, but it's, I guess, fundamental to some of our positions and what we've put forth as evidence, that we see that Union has treated 100 PJs as a utility asset, but I don't see anything in the NGEIR decision that said that they, one, must do that, and two, must transfer the costs through the deferral accounts back to ratepayers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If it's an interpretive issue, I leave it at that, but I wanted to make sure that I was understanding what Union's position is, their interpretation is, and what are -- do you see the distinction between the two manners in which this can be possibly interpreted.

MR. QUINN:  That's correct, sir.  I see both sides of it.  We view one side; they're viewing another.  And we --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Now it's clear to me.  I thought we were at cross-purposes here as to how the words can be read and interpreted.

MR. SMITH:  I can assist my friend, because no doubt this will appear, but I would invite him to read page 83 of the NGEIR decision, which says that:

"The 100 PJ amount is the capacity that Union must ensure is available to in-franchise customers if they need it.  Union should continue to charge in-franchise customers based on the amount of space required any year.  If Union's in-franchise customers require less than what 95 BCF in any year is measured by Union's standard allocation method, the cost-based rate should be based on that amount, not on the full 95 BCF reserved for their future use.  Union will have the flexibility to market the difference between the total amount needed and the 95 BCF reserve amount."

And then it goes on in Chapter 7 to talk about the short-term account.  So we will obviously deal with this in argument, but --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the --


MR. SMITH:  -- I want to give my friend fair warning that -- of what we rely on.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  We have CME's compendium here, which is a partial of the NGEIR decision.  Is the NGEIR decision on the record here anywhere in its entirety?

MR. SMITH:  It's not, I believe, on its -- it's not.  However, I don't believe that it needs to be in order for the Board to have full recourse to it in its deliberations.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I was thinking more in the assistance of cross here.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I do have in the materials that I have provided for Mr. Rosenkranz and now e-mailed around and given a hard copy to Mr. Thompson, which will be marked in my cross-examination, all of the passages I have referred to, so you will have it available as an exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir, thank you.  And with that -- and I am familiar, and we are familiar, with that page 83, and we will leave the rest for argument.

I would like to move to system integrity space.  And I started again with Mr. Feingold yesterday, and he deferred to Mr. Isherwood, so if you could just start at a high level, Mr. Isherwood, and provide a simple description of system integrity space, which has been, to be consistent with yesterday -- you called it contingency space earlier.  Are we talking about the same space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, we are.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so to clarify that -- and if you would provide a definition of "system integrity space", please?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  System integrity space is used by Union Gas operationally to manage the system.  And as you would add contingency to a capital project, contingency space is added to space required in order to handle events that are outside of our control.  And there are a number of different uses of contingency space, but ones that are a little easier to visualize and think through is really around weather.

So in the fall we will leave some space empty just for that late-November warm spell.  So even though we plan on spaces full October 31st, and we start to withdraw on November 1st, that's a very good notional idea, but realistically you can still get warm weather in November, and may actually be injecting into the first week or two in November is something that happens once in a while.  So there is contingency space that's set aside for that as an example.

And the other example of a weather use of contingency space is more in the winter time.  So with the direct purchase customers, we have them balance to expected point at the end of February, and so they will be on target, if you want, end of February, as will utility customers be on target end of February, but again, March could be colder than normal.

So the target we picked for the end of February assumes kind of normal weather for March and April, but there is also a situation where it could be colder than normal, and in that case we would have -- potentially have molecules in space sitting there waiting to be used in case it's colder than normal.

So those are two examples of how contingency space is used.  Also use it for line pack and unabsorbed -- sorry, UFG, unaccounted-for gas.  So there is use for four or five different reasons, but the two big ones are the sort of late-season injections and kind of late-season cold weather.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I appreciate you have provided a number of examples, but I am going to stick with the first one you gave for simplicity.  You talked about leaving space open in October to manage for warmer-than-expected weather; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  October and I would say November as well, potentially.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that goes to the point we were discussing earlier.  Now, do you track that separately in your gas supply plan?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We track utility use of storage separately, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Do you track the contingency space separately?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, that's set aside for that contingency event.

MR. QUINN:  So it is tracked, and there is a decision at some point as to how much gas goes into a contingency space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think it's left empty to accommodate the utility customers if there is a late season, warm weather.

MR. QUINN:  So it's left empty as a provision --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  As a provision.

MR. QUINN:  -- for warmer-than-normal weather.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  At some point in a warm October/November, that space starts to fill; is that accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If it's warmer than the plan, it would potentially start to fill.

MR. QUINN:  How do you know when you have filled the contingency space?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It's obviously tracked as well, obviously, right?

MR. QUINN:  So it is tracked then.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It has to be.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So would you be able to, by way of undertaking, just consistent with the non-utility accounting for the last three years, show how the contingency space was used through October and November?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, it's J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO SHOW HOW THE CONTINGENCY SPACE WAS USED THROUGH OCTOBER AND NOVEMBER

MR. QUINN:  Now, with that backdrop, I had asked Mr. Feingold yesterday about assessing other companies, utility companies, that use system integrity space in this manner, and you indicated on the transcript -- you don't have to turn it up -- that you would have to go back and refresh your memory.  Do you recall that?

MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  Have you had the opportunity, sir?

MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I have in general terms, and to me this notion of the storage space unavailable or contingency space is not unlike what I have seen with some utilities in the States that characterize it as a reserve margin; would be a term that would be used to accommodate unforeseen or unplanned activities with regard to that use, or the use of that asset.

MR. QUINN:  In those cases with those utilities using a reserve margin, as you indicated, do any of those companies have an integrated operation that is split between -- for lack of a better term -- two business lines, between utility and non-utility?

MR. FEINGOLD:  To the best of my recollection, I am not aware of anywhere there has to be an accounting separation, as is done here.

They would be either divested or functionally separated, for the ones that I am familiar with.

MR. QUINN:  So this is more of an accounting separation, as we discussed yesterday.  You were talking about with Mr. Gruenbauer?

MR. FEINGOLD:  For purpose of Union's situation, yes.

MR. QUINN:  For on the basis of an integrated storage pool, would you know approximately how much of the cost of that integrity space is allocated to non-utility?

MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I don't.

MR. QUINN:  Would you accept, subject to check, that it's about 4 percent?

Maybe I can ask Union.  Is that accurate?  It's about 4 percent?

MR. TETREAULT:  I will take this one, Mr. Quinn.

We did travel down this road at last year's deferral account proceeding, and I am actually look at an undertaking from that proceeding.  It's Exhibit JT1.8 from –0039.

And the quick answer is yes, I would accept your numbers there.  I think we said in that undertaking approximately 3 percent of system integrity costs at the time of the '07 cost study were borne by ex-franchise storage customers.


MR. QUINN:  So in reviewing the system integrity space, Mr. Feingold, have you come to any conclusions about the appropriateness of that allocation?

MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, it appears that a small portion might be attributable to the unregulated activities.

MR. QUINN:  And in your review that -- you found that to be acceptable?

MR. FEINGOLD:  In my review, I did not discover this small change.

MR. SMITH:  I am sorry, is there a change that is being put in Mr. Quinn's question that's being referred to?  I am sorry, that's the part that I...

MR. QUINN:  No, I was waiting because I didn't understand the change he was referring to.  I had understood that there was an allocation in the cost proceeding, and there may have been a change that happened as a result of inquiry in 2010, but I don't have a record of what that change was or why it was made.

Could you help us with that, Mr. Tetreault?

MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Quinn, I am not sure I appreciate what change you are referring to in 2010.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well --


MR. FEINGOLD:  And maybe I can just clarify what I was characterizing as change.

I was essentially saying that, based on Mr. Tetreault's discussion of that previous interrogatory response, I was characterizing that as a change.  I am not suggesting that that was made; I am just saying that that was an outcome of that interrogatory response.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And as we were discussing yesterday, you understand, because it is accounting separation, that this is an integrated storage pool?

MR. TETREAULT:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  I want to be fair about this.  I am going to turn to Mr. Isherwood and try to create a scenario that help us understand how contingency space may by applied.

Mr. Isherwood, if you were in a situation where you had a significant inability of a supplier to meet its obligations to Union on a peak day, would Union use the resource of the system integrity space to manage that risk, and/or to manage the result of that lack of delivery?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Sorry, I believe that question -- I believe that question was asked in Exhibit B3.27.

MR. QUINN:  Well, if it's helpful, we can turn that up.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So as you have answered in 1 of B3.27, you had answered the question in the affirmative, that system integrity inventory would be used to support deliverability from storage?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's the answer, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So then you went on to provide the priority of service to answer our second question, and described the protocol, and I think we have seen the priority of service and we appreciate it is now posted.

So if we go on to number 3, it says:

"Are the customers to be interrupted more likely to in-franchise or ex-franchise?"

You have said:

"Ex-franchise customers are more likely to be interrupted, because in-franchise services have a higher priority."

Can I take that, in reading it directly, that the system integrity space will be used to keep Union's firm obligation for its ex-franchise customers also?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  When I look at system integrity space being used for ex-franchise customers, the reason it has such a low allocation of cost is because there's a low probability or a low need to use contingency space for ex-franchise or non-utility customers.

If you think of -- an example would be Enbridge has a fairly large storage contract on Union's system.  Our ability to or our requirement to meet Enbridge's needs are limited by the contractual needs of the contract.  They have a firm space allocation and a firm deliverability allocation.

So whether it gets cold or warmer, it doesn't change the contractual obligations; they are what they are.

So we would not need to use contingency space for ex-franchise storage contracts.

MR. QUINN:  You have used the example of Enbridge, and I understand the reasoning behind that.  And we haven't necessarily said Enbridge; it could be supplier XYZ.

So supplier XYZ has an ex-franchise contract with you, and a supplier -- not them, but a supplier -- has not met its obligations to provide firm deliverability to that customer.  If I read this accurately, you would use contingency space to keep everybody whole.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think we need to be very specific on the example.

So if it was a supplier to Enbridge that didn't meet the requirements, we would not use contingency space.  That's Enbridge's obligations and contractual commitments to meet.  We would not be involved in that.

If it was a supplier to Union Gas, to meet our customers' requirements, and they had a failure to deliver, then we would potentially use system integrity space, but we wouldn't use it to backstop Enbridge in their contractual commitments.

MR. QUINN:  I guess what I am saying is it is a default by a supplier that is affecting more than that supplier.  So more broadly, it could impact other x-franchise customers, and to the extent it does, Union would use system integrity space to keep them whole; is that not accurate?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So your example is a supply contract to an ex-franchise customer is impacting our in-franchise utility customers?

MR. QUINN:  No, I am saying a supply contract is defaulted.  In-franchise or --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Supply contract to who?

MR. QUINN:  I will in this case say that it is to an ex-franchise customer, and now you have an inability to meet all of your ex-franchise obligations, including this customer, including the customer, but beyond that customer, would you not use a contingency space to keep the other customers whole?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So if Enbridge had a supply failure at Dawn, it would not impact our utility customers or our contingency space.

MR. QUINN:  I am saying supplier XYZ; I wasn't using Enbridge.  XYZ --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, you said a supplier to Enbridge.

MR. QUINN:  No, I am saying more in the generic, a generic supplier, ex-franchise, it has an obligation to Union to provide gas.  It does not.  For whatever reason, it fails that day.

That failure puts at risk, on a peak-day scenario, your ability to stay whole with all of your ex-franchise contracts.

My reading of this is you would use the contingency space to keep everybody whole, excepting that one supplier who didn't meet their obligations.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Before I consult with Ms. Cameron, the example is a supplier to Union.  And I am not going to use the word "ex-franchise" but just say a natural gas supplier to Union Gas, who we would be buying gas for our utility customers defaults.

Is that the example?  And does that ripple through to ex-franchise?

MR. QUINN:  I am saying a supplier to Dawn has an obligation in whatever contract it has, but it's an ex-franchise contract, so it is providing deliverability.  Part of the push out of Dawn, it does -- it fails, so you don't -- you are not obligated to provide it, the flow through Dawn, but it is impacting your ability to meet your ex-franchise obligations.  Would you use contingency space --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not trying to belabour this, but I want to make sure I answer the question, and I need to understand the question.  That last time you went through it, Mr. Quinn, you said "a gas supplier to Dawn".  My answer would be different if it was a gas supplier to Enbridge or gas supplier to Union.

MR. QUINN:  A gas supplier to Union in its non-utility ex-franchise storage.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  So Union Gas doesn't buy any supply at all at Dawn for ex-franchise.  Enbridge would be buying gas themselves to fill their own contracts.  They would not buy any gas to fill an Enbridge contract, for example.

MR. QUINN:  I guess I wasn't using Enbridge, so --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  You used the word "ex-franchise".

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But I didn't use "Enbridge", I used "ex-franchise", yes.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't buy gas for ex-franchise customers.

MR. QUINN:  They have a delivery obligation.  Do your ex-franchise customers have any delivery obligation?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They do not.

MR. QUINN:  To Dawn?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  They do not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I guess what I have done is create a scenario that has been narrowed that -- maybe it is helpful just to move on at this point, and I'll accept that.  We'll deal with the rest later.

I guess part of our challenge here -- and Mr. Isherwood, you provided some helpful, I guess, background to some questions that were asked by a number of people, especially Mr. Aiken, yesterday, but I just -- I put in my compendium a letter that originally had gone to Union.  If you turn to my compendium, is the first part, and it's a May 12th, 2009 letter to Mr. Ripley asking about the deferral account dispositions.

MR. SMITH:  My apologies, Mr. Quinn.  Can you just remind me of the exhibit number?  K1.7, thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have it, panel?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We do have the letter, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So just to clarify, Union first invoked this methodology that we are walking through for storage cost allocations and deferral account dispositions in this proceeding 2009-0052; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I believe that's correct.  I believe that's the first time that we introduced the cost allocation for non-utility storage.

MR. QUINN:  And in this letter to Mr. Ripley, this was a response -- or a request by FRPO to get additional information, because the results of the interrogatory responses yielded some -- the distorted numbers, as you can read at the bottom of the second paragraph, that some asset-related costs had a 5,800 percent increase to support doubling of revenues.

Now, I will be honest and fair about that aspect, that there was a shifting around of costs that was later explained, but in response to that letter we received a supplemental response, which is in the second and third pages of the compendium.

So we had asked for descriptions of the costs included in the short-term and long-term storage deferral accounts, including an explanation for the cost variances from Board-approved.  If you move down to long-term peak storage services, Union's response is captured in those three sentences.

Now, that was a proceeding where both -- we are all becoming familiar as intervenors with this methodology, and I guess I struggle with understanding this, and the Board gave us leave to pursue this further, but I am just going to take it piecemeal.

I don't read in here a description that was like Mr. Isherwood provided yesterday about post-tax hurdle rate or the return on purchased services, and I guess I am struggling to understand if, at the outset, when we were confused by how Union was allocating these costs, that there isn't any information here to help us understand that.

Mr. Isherwood, can you help me with why that type of information was not provided at that time?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The response to the interrogatory was a high-level summary of what the costs included.  Subsequent to that, during the cross-examination, there was more information provided, in terms of the breakdown of the return, interest, and tax components and the identification of the return on new investment and purchased storage.

MR. QUINN:  So in that information that you are referring to was post-tax hurdle rate used?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not specifically referenced, no.

MR. QUINN:  Was the specific percentage of return used in that proceeding?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The dollar value of the return --


MR. QUINN:  No, percentage, sorry.

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- was -- the dollar value of the return and the percent of that return over the asset was calculated in that response.

MR. QUINN:  And maybe you can provide us with the reference you are looking at?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's a response to an undertaking in EB-2009-0101.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Oh, yes, I think that proceeding was split into two parts, a deferral part and an earnings sharing part, so the Exhibit J1.4 provided the calculation of the long-term storage return.

MR. QUINN:  And since you are looking at that now -- and I trust that you have it, where we wouldn't have it as readily available.  Can -- in reading it, does Union provide an explanation of the incremental return for the post-tax hurdle rate and the reasons behind it?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The response includes identification of all the new investments and purchased storage and the values for each of those and the quantification of the return.  But there is no narrative discussion of the post-tax hurdle rate.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And while you have it open, does it refer to return on purchased services?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it does.

MR. QUINN:  Does it describe them as an imputed return that Union is allocating in the deferral account?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It lists the purchase contracts along with the new investments.  It doesn't separate them out.

MR. QUINN:  So it doesn't provide a description, as Mr. Isherwood did yesterday, about the imputed return portion?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Not specifically in the format that was reviewed yesterday, no.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am going to move up to today, because Mr. Aiken covered this, I think, rather able yesterday, and it's limited what I have to ask, but Ms. Elliott, yesterday you and I were talking about interrogatory response B1.3, and it may be helpful to turn that up again.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.

MR. QUINN:  In line 8 there was a comparison of the demand between Board-approved and 2010.  Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, line 8, there is a comparison of O&M 2010 to 2007 Board-approved.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  So when we were discussing this yesterday, my understanding of your response -- and certainly, correct me if I am wrong -- is that there were two drivers behind this increase.  You said one was an accounting change and two was an increase in high-delivery storage, increasing the operating costs.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Increasing operating costs as a result of incremental storage investment and growth, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, I asked at the time if you'd be able to quantify those two factors, and you stated that you wouldn't necessarily be able to break out the Board-approved.  This morning -- and last night I found this and I thought it might be helpful.  So I have distributed Exhibit J1.3 from the proceeding you referred to earlier, EB-2009-0101, and I believe Staff provided a copy to the Panel.

If you don't have one, sir, I could bring a couple up.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It was J1.3?

MR. QUINN:  J1.3, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have that.

MR. QUINN:  Just to try to assist Union in this process, could you undertake to do the similar analysis that was done for this in 2009 in the proceeding?

As you referred to before, it was an earnings-sharing mechanism proceeding, but Exhibit J1.3 seems to break out that cost in a way that was helpful for us to understand, and what we are trying to do is understand how Union is allocating this incremental demand cost.

So would you be able to replicate the analysis done here, to update your figures between 2007 Board-approved and 2010?

MS. ELLIOTT:  You are looking for a split of the increase between what was related to the accounting change and what was related to the growth?  I can do that, yes.

MR. QUINN:  And it does break the growth down.  Increased storage activity is there, but if you will note, there is a remaining variance attributed to increased O&M for contractor services.

If there is another component that is beyond the increased storage activity, we would like that also, if you would.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I can look at that, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO UPDATE FIGURES BETWEEN 2007 AND 2010 BOARD-APPROVED AMOUNTS.

MR. SMITH:  If I just may make an observation, members of the Board, we will provide the requested information and we will do so in a timely way.

I would make the observation that my friend is asking for information that was sought by him in an earlier proceeding.  So I just make the observation I don't know how many more requests are going to be like this, but in my view, these should have been asked as interrogatories or at the technical conference, because these are questions Mr. Quinn himself asked in earlier proceedings.

So we will abide by the undertaking, of course, but I do want to make that observation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  I accept that, sir.

And if I may tell you my premise, and then hopefully it will be almost the finish of my cross here, sir, Union has made application in this proceeding to say that the methodologies they are putting forth, if approved, would be carried forward and would not be subject to discussion through the rebasing process, which I understand is still slated for later this year.

Our concern in evaluating this, we are still trying to grapple with how is this done, what are the drivers, and how that might affect our ability to understand these costs going forward for the next rebasing, or if it is established now, can we ensure that if we are not to see the non-utility side of the business, how we are going to be able to have a comprehensive examination of costs.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think, Mr. Quinn, I think Mr. Smith was not arguing the relevance of it.  It was the temporal issue that he is raising, that we are at a late stage of the proceeding, and if these are concerns of your clients, I don't think they are new concerns.

MR. QUINN:  They are not new concerns, but through the answers received, I was seeking more information.  And I thought it would be more readily available because it had been in the past, but I'll take his point and I accept that with the quantity of information, this may have been something that I could have asked earlier.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  And with that, sir, I believe I have -- with the undertakings that Union is providing, that's the end of my examination.

I would like to reserve my right to review the Union delivery this morning of the numbers, to see if there might be another way of approaching those numbers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We will hear from you afterwards.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So I believe we will take our morning break.  And I think, Mr. Thompson, you are up after the break?

All right.  Let's break until 10 after 11:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:51 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:12 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir.  With leave from Mr. Thompson, I just wanted to, so that I can close off things -- Union provided the Exhibit J1.5 this morning as an undertaking, and provided space without the benefit of revenue or margin, which had been requested.

But I want to start with space, and then what I would like to do, sir, is just seek understanding, how those numbers compare to what Union provided the Board in the NGEIR proceeding in the Undertakings K2.3, which was part of my compendium.  So if --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  That would be fine.

MR. QUINN:  -- I can have leave to understand how the numbers compare between what's in the undertaking and what Union previously provided to the Board.

MS. CAMERON:  The information in Undertaking K2.3 was an undertaking taken during the NGEIR proceeding. It included a reference for short-term storage and balancing services margin, and showed the gross margin from 1997 to 2005, as well as the long-term storage services margin for the same time frame.

The short-term margin captures the margin from the sale of peak storage, off-peak storage, and balancing services.  The long-term storage -- the long-term peak into contracts that were longer than one year.  And those differences are important to note.  When we look at the chart that we prepared, either now as Exhibit J1.5 or a response to B3.65, the information that's available for 2007 to 2010, that short-term space sold is the space that's deemed excess to the utility, so the 7.9 PJs are equivalent for each of the years and does not include any of the off-peak storage and balancing services for contracts of one year or less.

The long-term space sold from 2007 to 2010 is the sum of the excess space when you look at the base year, so we used 2010 as an example, of 163.7.  If 100 GJs -- or PJs, sorry, is reserved for utility requirements, 63.7 is a non-utility requirement.  If you add to that the optimization that Union did of 24 PJs in the 2010 year -- and that can be found on Interrogatory B3.40 -- and the third-party storage of 14.6, which can be found in Interrogatory B3.4, the sum of that is 102.3 PJs, which is the long-term space sold in this line.

We can do that reconciliation back to 2007, but we can't go back and use that same methodology previous to that.  We don't have the information available to us.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate Union has prepared some understanding, and I will read through the transcript, sir, and then hopefully be able to understand it, but I would just like to qualify, if I may, the -- is what you are saying is part of your answer that there are different storage services that used to be deemed short-term and now are deemed to be part of long-term between -- previous to NGEIR and post-NGEIR?

MS. CAMERON:  In the chart that we prepared, the short-term space sold, the PJs is limited to the excess space, the space deemed to be excess for the utility requirements, so the 7.9 PJ equivalent.  We did not include in that number the short-term space sold for off-peak storage or balancing.  We continue to sell those services, and they continue to go to the benefit of the short-term deferral account, but we did not include that space requirement here, which -- but, however, that information was included in the Undertaking K2.3.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And I will be able to get a better handle on it when I read it through the transcript, but I guess I will ask the specific question:  Were there any shifts in services between short-term and long-term allocations pre-NGEIR and post-NGEIR?

MS. CAMERON:  The definition of long-term space sold did change.  Long-term space sold was one year or greater, as indicated in K2.3.  Long-term space sold after NGEIR is now deemed to be two years or longer.

MR. QUINN:  And is that the only services that were shifted between short-term and long-term?

MS. CAMERON:  That is the only one that I can -- I can't think of any others.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I will digest that later, sir.  Thank you for that indulgence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No problem.  Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.

Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Just before I begin, I would like to mark another document that I did alert the parties to and the Board by e-mail that I wanted to mark, and that was Union's responding motion record to the CME motion.  It has a number of documents in it, some of which I will be referring to in my cross-examination.  I hope everybody has a copy of that.  Would you give that a number, please?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's K2.1.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  UNION'S RESPONDING MOTION RECORD TO THE CME MOTION
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Mr. Isherwood, if I could just start with you, if you go to the CME compendium, K1.8, at tab 14, there is the transcript of the technical conference.  And at pages 51 to 54 in that transcript you provided an update on the Dawn Gateway situation.  Do you recall that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.  I am just trying to find the page reference.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, 51 to 54 at tab 14 of the CME compendium.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And over on page 54 you were telling us that the expectation was that regulatory approvals would be sought on the U.S. side, and that Union was trying to pull this together before year end.  That's my paraphrase.

Could you just give us an update on the situation, please?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.  So at the time of the technical conference, there was really two outstanding regulatory approvals on the U.S. side.  The first was to get a presidential permit that allows for the export of natural gas through the pipeline, and the second was approval through the Michigan Public Service Commission for the U.S. side of the pipeline project, and I think at the time I had said that DTE, who was our partner on Dawn Gateway, was working on both applications.


As it turned out, I think it was the next day or maybe two days later, the application was made for the presidential permit, so an application was filed shortly after the technical conference.

In terms of the Michigan Public Service Commission filing, they have done some more work on that.  At this point in time they are waiting until the market recovers enough to support the project, so there has been a lot of work done on it, but at this point they are not expecting to make a filing until the market recovers enough to allow the project to go forward.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so what is the current expectation as to when this project is likely to go forward?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think at this point in time it's going to be -- it will be market-driven.  It has always been a market-based project.  So the current -- the current market differential between Michigan and Ontario, which really drives whether that market goes ahead or not, there is not enough -- not enough market gap or spread between those two locations, so to recover the pipeline toll, the shippers need to have a lower price in Michigan and a higher price in Ontario, and the difference in price has to be at least equal to the pipeline toll for it to be profitable for those shippers.

So at this point in time that gap is not wide enough for -- to encourage shippers to contract long-term.  So we are still working on it.  We are still following the market.  At this point in time we do not have enough market commitment to proceed.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Within the transcript, at page 54, was my recollection you had to get the transaction completed by the end of this year.  Will you be seeking an extension of that?  Is that what I understand you to be saying?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Not being decided at this point in time.  It is going to depend on how close we are to the market being available to support the pipeline.  As you know, we have been following the market for quite some time, and it just has not been wide enough to support the project.  So it will depend.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, I would like to start, if I might, with just -- with a few questions about the NGEIR proceeding.  And I guess I will direct these questions to you, Ms. Elliott, and you, Mr. Isherwood, but anyone can feel free to chime in if they think they should.

Would you agree with me that prior to the NGEIR decision, all of Union's storage services were regulated?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that under the scheme of regulation that prevailed, Union was permitted to sell ex-franchise storage services under the auspices of market-based rates?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that the premiums on those sales -- that is the extent to which the market-based prices exceeded cost-based rates -- were shared with ratepayers and Union's shareholders?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Through the short-term and the long-term deferral accounts; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the NGEIR proceeding, Union, as I recall it, was seeking forbearance relief with respect to its sale of storage services into the ex-franchise market; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what is "forbearance"?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Forbearance is when the OEB is no longer involved in regulating that part of the market, and they have deemed that the market is competitive and there is no need for regulation.

MR. THOMPSON:  So would it be fair to describe forbearance as an absence of regulation?  Competition takes over to protect the public interest?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's fair.

MR. THOMPSON:  And would you agree with me that if a forbearance order is granted, the business line which is subject to the order becomes an unregulated business?

MR. SMITH:  Well, if my friend is putting that as that was the outcome of the NGEIR decision, I think the NGEIR decision stands for itself.  And if he wants to put the results of that to the witnesses, he certainly can, but obviously the result in NGEIR was not entire forbearance of Union's entire storage operation; it is a bit different than that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, must have hit a nerve here.

So Mr. Isherwood or Ms. Elliott, following the NGEIR decision, did Union treat its sales to the ex-franchise services market as an unregulated business line, non-utility business line?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We refer to it as non-utility; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can I treat the words "unregulated" and "non-utility" as synonyms?  What's the hang-up with "unregulated"?  That word?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We refer to them as "unregulated" or "non-utility" interchangeably.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, just as matter of principle, would you agree with me that an allowance, a Board allowance for a return, is a feature of regulation?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The concept of Board-approved return on equity is a utility concept, yes, a regulatory concept.

MR. THOMPSON:  And once a regulator has approved an item of return, that item becomes a component of the regulated price; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Becomes a component of the revenue requirement, and then is factored into the rate that's charged for the service, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And would you agree with me that in a regulated context, the regulated entity cannot charge a return that has not previously been authorized by the regulator?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that once a regulated service becomes non-utility or unregulated, the authority of the provider of the service to impose a regulated return ceases?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Could you repeat that again?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Would you agree with me that once a regulated service becomes unregulated, or non-utility, the authority of Union, the provider of the service, to impose a regulated return charge for that service ceases?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is no longer a requirement to deal with -- in theory, in an unregulated operation, there is no longer a requirement to deal with approved regulated rate of return.

You would deal with the return to the shareholders, and the internal -- or the internal rate of return, or whatever other concept the shareholder was looking for to measure the return on investment.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, once a regulated service has become non-utility or unregulated, would you agree with me that the owner has the opportunity to earn the difference between the competitive market price and the actual expenses that are incurred in providing the service?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And would you agree with me that that is precisely what Union was seeking in the NGEIR case, an opportunity to earn the difference between the competitive markets price of ex-franchise storage and the actual expenses incurred in providing the service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, would you agree with me that once you become, once a service becomes unregulated or non-utility, there is no guarantees with respect to that spread between the competitive price and the expenses incurred to provide the service?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, what I would like to do, then, just briefly, is to draw your attention to an exchange that I had with Mr. Baker during the NGEIR proceeding, and it's in the K2.1 at tab 2.  This is an excerpt that you folks have provided from the NGEIR proceeding, if you could turn with me to page 150.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, tab 2 is -- I only have the Board decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, this is your motion record, not my stuff, Union's motion record.  It's dated August 30, 2011.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And the page reference, sorry?

MR. THOMPSON:  150.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And starting at line 16, I was asking Mr. Baker and Mr. Poredos some questions about Union's storage development plans.

Were you a witness at this time, Mr. Isherwood, or was it just Mr. Baker?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I believe I was.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  In any event, I asked the question:  What are the -- Union's storage development plans?  Do they have any?

I thought that was all under the auspices of MHP, and Mr. Poredos gave a response to the effect that it wouldn't be feasible for a utility to invest in storage under the present regulatory regime.

And then over at page 151, Mr. Baker said as follows:

"I'd change it to say we are not looking for a guarantee of costs, but we are looking for an opportunity to earn a return on a line of business, so that we would take the good with the bad and manage that risk.  So clearly, when we are seeking a determination that the market's competitive and a framework for forbearance, we are looking to manage that and we aren't looking for a guarantee."

You would agree with that proposition?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would.

MR. THOMPSON:  And a little further down I put the proposition:

"Well, what precludes you..."

This is at line 18.

"...if the returns aren't adequate from the storage development perspective of simply coming to the Board for some approvals when you are developing storage?  Why can't you put forward what you suggest is the reasonable return for this line of business?  What's wrong with that?"

And Mr. Baker said:

"You have got to step back again.  Our view is the market is competitive.  Union doesn't have market power, and there is no need for Board oversight to regulate Union as a specific developer of storage capacity relative to other third-party storage developers."

Do you agree with that response?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  So Union was telling the Board at that time:  We will take the difference between the market price and the expenses, producing the service for which we are seeking forbearance.

And that would, as I understood it, be sufficient to compensate the storage services provider for the increased level of risk it faced.  That was the pitch in NGEIR; fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That was the pitch, and I guess from the point of view of our deferral accounts in 2010, if we had full -- if we had full access to the market price, we would have not done the calculation we did.  We would have been at risk for the price being up or down, and in 2010 we would have had the full market price.

The difficulty we have is, we don't have the full market price.  We have a sharing of the market price.  So to compensate the shareholder for an incremental investment, we were quite clear in NGEIR as well that we wouldn't and couldn't invest at the regulated rate of return, and I think the Board agreed that it is more risky and is more costly to develop storage.

So the incremental margin that we are adding is to compensate the shareholder for that incremental risk during the sharing period.  Obviously once we get past the sharing period there is no more review of market price for storage assets, so the shareholder is fully exposed to the market price, and we are willing to take that exposure.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we don't -- we now know what you did.  We obviously say it was not in accordance with NGEIR, and you seem to be saying, 'Well, we could do whatever we wanted until we get the full market price.'  Is that what you are saying?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I think the exchange that you went through with Mr. Baker and Mr. Poredos was around, if Union has exposure to the full market price, would you invest in storage, and I think our answer was, Yes, we would.  And when we went to our shareholder with storage projects, they would not have accepted a regulated rate of return.


So in order to compensate the shareholder for the higher risk and higher development cost, we used the concept of the minimum threshold.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that's -- I will move on, because what does an unregulated business do when it assesses investment opportunities, in terms of feasibility?  Would you agree with me that an unregulated business estimates the revenues from the activity as being considered, less real expenses, and considers whether they are sufficient to produce a profit that satisfies the threshold profitability requirement that the owner sets?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree with that with one slight addition, I guess, is from a storage market point of view, you can look at the market data.  The market is very liquid going out two or three years.


So when you are looking at the market data around storage, you can predict with some certainty what the price or value of storage will be for the first two or three years.

Beyond the two or three years, which is essentially in this case through to 2011/2012 time frame, beyond that you have a forecast, to your point, Mr. Thompson, a forecast of storage -- value storage price, but you have a lot less certainty, because the market -- the market data points you can rely on, NYMEX and others, don't go beyond really a three-year horizon.  It becomes a much riskier forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So?  You still do a forecast --


MR. ISHERWOOD:  But the part of the forecast that has more certainty is the very part that we are sharing.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of the market prices versus cost-based rates at the time of NGEIR, would it be fair to suggest that they were roughly in the ratio of three to one?  In other words, market price was about three times the cost-based rate?  Does that sound about right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I don't know the ratio.  They are definitely above the cost-of-service rate.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, coming back to what an unregulated business does when it's assessing whether it's going to take advantage of an opportunity or not, would you agree with me that the hurdle rate that the unregulated business uses is really an economic feasibility benchmark?  It's a target?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would agree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So then this now brings me to Exhibit K1.3, attachment 1.  And you should also have Exhibit B3.53, which you will find in our compendium, K1.8, under tab 12.  It's more towards the back than the front.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I may have mislabelled exhibits yesterday.  K1.3.  What's the title on that?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's the letter containing the information that was requested in the CME motion.  I think I have got that right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, this is K1.4?

MR. SMITH:  K1.3, I believe, is the September 15th letter.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, they are both September the 15th, so I have got them misnumbered.  So K1.4, I guess.  Is that...?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  And your second -- your second reference was in your --


MR. THOMPSON:  Tab 12 of the CME compendium, and it's Exhibit B3.53.  It's towards the back of tab 12.  Are we all set?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We are.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So starting with attachment 1 to K1.4, what we see here are the return on equity calculations for the unregulated storage business of Union for the years 2008, 2009, and 2010, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in line 1 of each year there is a number, earnings before interest and taxes, and that number comes from where, Ms. Elliott?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I took it off of the earnings sharing calculation in each of those years.  So it's the -- it will be the bottom line in the column, entitled "non-utility storage".  Those exhibits for 8 and 9 aren't filed in this application, but the exhibit for 10 can be found in the pre-filed evidence, Exhibit A, tab 2, Appendix B, schedule 1.  So earnings before interest and taxes for non-utility storage is at line 15, column B.  And I used the equivalent schedule from 2008 and 2009 to populate this schedule.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Sorry, can you just give me that reference again, please, so I can follow this?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Exhibit A, tab 2, Appendix B, schedule 1, line 15, column B.

MR. THOMPSON:  Exhibit A, tab 2, did you say?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Tab 2, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Appendix B.  Right.  Schedule 1?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So where do I see the number 52,201?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, you won't see that.  This is 2010, so you will see the 98 --


MR. THOMPSON:  -- 86, right.

MS. ELLIOTT:  -- 047.

MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, where do I see that, sorry?  Line...

MS. ELLIOTT:  Line 15, column B.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So am I right that that doesn't include any so-called costs for incremental storage, purchased assets, and imputed income taxes?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  It's the earnings before interest and income taxes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, the -- and in relation to Exhibit B3.53 -- well, just let me back up.  These numbers in attachment 1 are for both short and long term.  Am I right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And Exhibit B3.53 only relates to long-term storage's account; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you by undertaking produce the equivalent schedule for the short-term storage's account, just so we have all the revenue numbers and cost numbers disaggregated for both?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I think, actually, it should be in evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh.  Sorry.

MS. ELLIOTT:  You can find the short-term storage numbers at Exhibit B1.2.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So has that got all the revenues and costs disaggregated?  In other words, they are not revenues that are shown as a deduction of costs in this B1.2?

MS. ELLIOTT:  There is no comparable cost in the short-term calculation.  The reduction of revenues for the third-party costs only exists in the long-term.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, so is it possible to -- by reference to Exhibit B3.53 and B1.2, to reconcile the number 98,047?  Reconcile to that number?

And I would ask you to do it by undertaking, if it could be done.

MS. ELLIOTT:  I can do that, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO RECONCILE EXHIBITS B3.53 and B1.2 FOR THE 98,047 IN K1.4 ATTACHMENT 1

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, the financial expenses in this calculation, these are, I gather, from looking at B3.53, where there is in the cost line at 13 interest, 11,349, that's the amount that's appearing in attachment 1 to K1.4?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that interest relates to what?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's the interest on Union's rate base, unregulated storage, the rate base equivalent.

MR. THOMPSON:  At Board-prescribed rates, or something of that nature?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, am I correct, then, coming back to attachment 1 that the numbered line 3, then, drives the calculation at line 4?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Income taxes.  And then the unregulated earnings appear at line 6; is that correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then what we have at lines 7 and 8 are your calculations of the long-term storage premium, and it's in that exercise that you are -- you take into account these incremental investment -- incremental return on incremental investment and incremental return on purchased assets?

MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  Lines 7 and 8 represent the premium that is embedded in approved rates.

So in your earlier question you referred to the premium above cost-based rates for storage sold at market prices.  There are really two components to that premium.

There is the amount that was forecast in the 2007 rate case, that's been embedded into the rates.  So there is a reduction in in-franchise rates for the amount of the premium forecast in 2007.

And then as we move past 2007, the deferral account captures the variance between the actual and the forecast.  So this 7 and 8 represent the premium that's built into rates.

Line 1 is net of the deferral account.  So the $98,047,000 is net of the deferral account disposition amounts.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But this is a real calculation, is it not?  It's not fictitious in any way?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It's a calculation that approximates the return calculation you would do for a utility business.  So financial expenses are calculated based on rate base, and the capital -- the approved capital structure at approved rates.

MR. THOMPSON:  So in 2008, where -- at that point, I think we are in a 75 percent sharing stage, and 2009 was 50 percent, 2010 it's 25 percent; is that right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the return on equity being shown here in 2008 is 18.13 percent; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that's well over the hurdle rate of 14.4?

MS. ELLIOTT:  It is, but you are combining in this calculation the total return on existing assets, which is including in this case 25 percent of the premium, of the difference between market prices and the forecast as going to the shareholder.  And that shift each year, as a result of the NGEIR decision, there is more revenue to the shareholder coming through existing assets, and that's embedded in this calculation.

So some of this growth will be increases on existing assets, and some of it will be the return on new assets, and we don't have those calculations split out.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right, but isn't that exactly the way an unregulated business would look at it?  It would look at the asset pool, and say:  On a pooled basis, I am making 18.13 percent with this incremental investment that I made in 2008.  That's well over my hurdle rate of return.  Let's go for it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But I would say that it's as Ms. Elliott pointed out, that these percentages of return on equity are on the entire rate base -- if I can use that term -- for the non-utility storage operations.

It is not to say that the new investment would earn that.  In fact, it's far from that.

So new investment, even recognized in the NGEIR decision, new investments cost more than the existing cost of service would, have whole different cost structures.

So you wouldn't expect or extend that number to include new investments.  And before you make any new investment, it's always looked at on an incremental basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my experience, it's always been done on a rolling basis.

But in any event, looking at the 2008, the 18.13 percent, and that's in a year of 75 percent sharing, and if we just ask yourselves what would that number be if the long-term storage premium was eliminated, we could add the 10,676, I suggest, at line 7, to 11,675 at line 10, get the total, which I make to 22,351, which would produce a return in the end state of 34.7 percent; isn't that something that a prudent unregulated business would take a look at?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I guess I disagree with your statement that incremental assets are looked at on a rolled-in basis in a non-utility operation.

Any new investment in new storage pools is looked at incrementally.  It's that pool has a cost to develop of X, and it has a return of Y.  And if that doesn't meet the threshold, then it doesn't go ahead.

So it's absolutely looked at on an incremental basis.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I am looking at this on a rolled-in basis, because I think this is what the Board gave you in NGEIR.

In 2009, the number is 38.91 percent.  That's more than -- that's almost three times your hurdle rate, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  If you are asking me if 38.9 is three times 14.4, it's approximately that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And if you ask yourself what is it going to be in the end state, by then taking line 7 and adding it to line 10, I make it that it increases to about 46 percent; would you take that, subject to check?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then in 2010, we are now at 50.67 percent.  This is in 25 percent sharing on long-term, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And if you assume what is -- would be in the end state, I make it it would be 54.5 percent.  Would you take that subject to check?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  And now I put it to you that what NGEIR gave you was the right to keep a materially increasing share of net earnings from the unregulated business.  Do you agree with that?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what NGEIR gave us was exposure to the market conditions on storage, without increasing revenue or decreasing revenue, it gave us that exposure.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But Union wasn't seeking any guarantees, right?  We've been through that.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Now, what Union did after the decision, it seems to me, is, without any advance notice to the Board or anyone else and without any prior approval from the Board, deducted unapproved items of return and imputed taxes from unregulated margins.  That's what happened; correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think from a decision point, in terms of -- and I will use the case of actually investing in storage, but Mr. Baker was clear during his cross-examination at NGEIR was the existing regulatory framework before NGEIR would not support the risk and the cost of investing in new storage.  And it was through the Board's review of the storage market and the conclusion that it was competitive that we got full exposure to market-based rates.

And we did say through testimony and evidence that if we had exposure to market-based rates there would be an incentive to look at developing more storage.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what happened is just as I have described.  That's what you did.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  But if we looked at the investments that we made and said all we had available to us was the regulated rate of return, it is unlikely we would have invested any money.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's fine.  That's what you say.  I don't know if I agree with it.  But you adopted a margin-sharing calculation approach without any approval that gave you a guarantee, gave your owner a guarantee, of recovering its hurdle rate.  That's what you did.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what it allowed us to do is --


MR. THOMPSON:  Isn't that what you did?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think what we did was to add a risk premium or risk cost to the calculation so that when we shared with ratepayers, who have absolutely no risk of the decision we made, we still had the long-term risk on storage, but by putting that risk premium on the calculation, it allows us to still share with ratepayers some of the upside that we had in the early years of our development, and it compensates us still for the longer-term risk that we have.

MR. THOMPSON:  But you got a guarantee through this methodology of recovering your hurdle rate from ratepayers.

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Hurdle rate that we look at is actually over the life of the asset, so the calculation we are doing here is a year-by-year basis.  We have no guarantee going forward that we will still earn.  In fact, there is examples of pools we develop that are not earning anywhere near the hurdle rate.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's -- I will move on.  Just get the big picture here of this -- and this involves, if you would turn up, please, our tab 15.  This is at -- and it's your attachment 2 to Exhibit K1.4.

What we attempted to do at tab 15, based on the information that we then had in the record, was to calculate the ratepayer's share of premiums that was -- that they didn't receive because of these calculations that you were doing of return and imputed taxes.

In each of the years '08, '09, 2010, and then we had a cumulative number -- this is at line 6 -- of 11 million-722.  Do you see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And what we were seeking on the motion and what you have provided here is all the settlement and attachment to are more precise numbers with respect to this table.  Is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's my understanding, but I haven't looked at the table that you have prepared.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I was hoping to get somebody to focus on it.  But let me try and help you with it.  The unapproved return on incremental investments for 2010 is the 2594 that appears at line 2 in your attachment 2 in column C.  You see that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so if we then go back to 2009, where I have got 2190, the correct number would be 2675, which appears in your line 7, column C, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then for line 1, 2008, the correct -- I had 805 -- the correct number would be 778, right?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next line, the unapproved return on purchased assets, that's 6630, and we find that in your line 3, column 1.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct?  And then I had a number for 2009 that was estimated, but the correct number from your information would be 4406.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right?  And for 2008 would be 2115.

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And then we had done our taxes at 33.56 percent for each year.  What I have done is the math in your calculations, and it appears to me the tax rate in '08 that you have used is 53.4 percent.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's not the tax rate, but that's the percentage.  So lines 1 through 4 on the attachment 2 are after-tax numbers.  The taxes are calculated on a pre-tax number.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I'm sorry, I misspoke.  It's the gross-up rate.

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's -- but that's the percentage taxes over -- total after tax.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So 2008, I make it 53.4.  Would you take that subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  2009, 52.8 percent, subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  2010, 50.5 percent, subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then when I do the math down at line 6 for these revised -- well, line 4 has revised numbers then, and I put in the taxes in lines 3, 1544 for '08, 3739 for '09, 4658 for 2010; do the totals.  You take the percentages.  I get ratepayer's share that they never received, 3328 in 2008, 5410 in 2009, 3471 in 2010, for a total of 12.209 million.  Would you take those numbers subject to check?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, on the purchased asset front, I just want to follow up on a couple of questions.  Mr. Aiken asked you yesterday about this.  And they relate to the relationship between Union and the service providers.  Mr. Aiken has covered off the fact that these really aren't assets.  But I want you to turn up Exhibit B3.15, which you will find under our tab 12.  It's just the second document in.  Do you have that, folks?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, you advised, if I understood it, that three of these were related parties.  I take it Washington 10 is unrelated; is that correct?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then Huron-Tipperary is related.  I thought you said Union has a -- Spectra has a 75 percent interest there?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  MHP-St. Clair pool, that's related?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And Sarnia Airport was a joint venture, as I understood it?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  With AltaGas, but it's related, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that 50-50?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  It is 50-50.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then MichCon-Dawn Gateway is another joint venture, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  No?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  The storage contract is -- between MichCon and Union Gas is non-utility business.

MR. THOMPSON:  It will be related if it gets folded into Dawn Gateway; is that right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  No, I don't think so.  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  No?  Okay.

All right.  So anyway, and then the three of them are the related parties, and I think somebody indicated to Mr. Aiken that the seller of the service would recover its required target return in the transaction, right?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Certainly they are trying to recover return, as well, through the sale of storage.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Okay.  And Spectra would presumably have the same target hurdle rate for Huron Tipperary, MHP and Sarnia, as the target that it has in this case, the 14.4 percent ROE; is that fair?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  Each of those pools, the investment would have been evaluated against that target, or even a higher target.  That's a minimum threshold.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so let's assume Spectra gets its minimum threshold through its investments in those projects.

What you are doing is really piling on, to make it another 14.4 on top of the 14.4, plus imputed taxes on assets that aren't assets?  I mean, how ridiculous does it get?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would say that when Spectra reviews those three projects, they look at the total revenue, which would be partly based on the contract they have between the storage operator and Union Gas, and then the assumption's in terms of what the market price that would be resold for.

So it's not piling it on; it's essentially in total.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, maybe not piling on, but doubling up; that's a fair description?

MR. ISHERWOOD:  I wouldn't expect -- Spectra's expectation is to earn a minimum threshold of 8.5 percent.  For example, on just the MHP/St. Clair pool by itself, you look at obtaining the minimum threshold with a combination of the revenue MHP/St. Clair gets with the contract with Union, plus the revenue Union Gas would expect to get over the term of that contract, reselling that capacity in the open market.

So it's really a combination of both streams of revenue.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move on to the cross-charge.  I will leave it there for now.

The cross-charge issue, I suggest, really stems from the question of how fixed capacity costs not needed by the in-franchise customers are to be treated under the NGEIR decision; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't think the NGEIR decision was specific on how fixed capacity costs would be treated.  But based on the 2007 rates, those costs had been allocated to the C1 rate class.

The assumption in the forecast at that time was that that storage would have been sold to ex-franchise customers, most likely sold long-term, subject to BCF on a short-term basis.

What the NGEIR decision was:  Shift that full 7.9 to short-term storage.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's your interpretation of it, and others take the view that those costs should remain where they were at the time of -- the fixed costs should remain where they were at the time of NGEIR, until such time as the in-franchise actually need the 100 PJ.

But that's an issue of interpretation; fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's an issue of interpretation, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, what I would just like to the find out is -- assume that the Board corrects for this item -- are the numbers in Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence and at our tab 15, if you could turn that back up, from lines 7 to 11, correct?  Or do we have some numbers issues, as well?

MS. ELLIOTT:  The math is correct.  The 1,662,000 is the difference between 2,261,000 and 599,000 that was allocated to short-term storage in the rate case.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.

Now, the last area I just want to touch on -- and it, I guess, relates to the extent to which Union can be relied upon to balance the interests of consumers on this cost allocation business -- is the track record with respect to this deferral account.

So this, I just want to touch on a series of events that took place starting in 2006.

Am I correct, first of all, that after the NGEIR decision was rendered, Union tried to charge $10,524,000 of deferred taxes against the -- introduced that into the margin calculations?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I will have to take your number, subject to check, but yes, at the time the NGEIR decision was rendered, Union was required to record accumulated deferred income taxes as a result of the change in the accounting.  And we did try -- we proposed to put that cost against the deferral accounts.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board rejected that?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the next proceeding is one that -- the decision appears at tab 2 of our brief.

You mentioned this yesterday, I think to Mr. Aiken, but this was where the only amounts that you were bringing into calculation in the NGEIR -– sorry, in the margin calculation, were contracts that hadn't been renewed after the NGEIR decision; have I described that fairly?

MS. ELLIOTT:  We also had a proposal that the new incremental contract, the revenue from those contracts and the associated costs would be excluded from the deferral accounts, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that you were doing that only surfaced in your reply submission.  If we go to tab 2 of our brief, and you go over to page 7, starting at the second paragraph, there was -- Board Staff picked up on a discrepancy in revenues in your numbers, and Union addressed that discrepancy in its reply submission; you see that, in the middle of the page?

MS. ELLIOTT:  I see the reference in the middle of the page, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then the Board didn't agree with what you were doing there, that just surfaced in your reply submission.

If you go over to page 8, the Board said:

"In the interest of not delaying the July 1, 2008 date of implementing the disposition of other accounts..."

The Board will accept the number you were proposing, and then directed you to recalculate the 2007 balance; is that fair?

MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then that didn't sit too well with Union, so on tab 3, you sought to review that; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in that decision at page 7, the Board again noted that the company did not indicate that it was not recording post-NGEIR long-term storage contracts in account 179-72.

This was despite the fact that this was a significant change in how the balances were calculated.

The Board wasn't too pleased with what you were doing there; correct?

MS. ELLIOTT:  They didn't agree with our proposal, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then what we have in our brief -- and I think in your own brief, are documents that were filed in the 2008 deferral account case, 2009 deferral account case, and now in this case, that will speak to themselves, in terms of what's there about this incremental return on incremental investment plus imputed taxes plus the incremental return on purchased assets plus imputed taxes.  You have your documents and we have our documents.

And with that I am finished, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Ms. Sebalj?

MS. SEBALJ:  Board Staff has no questions for this panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Smith, do you have any redirect?

MR. SMITH:  I don't believe so.  Let me just -- one moment.  I just want to make sure that I caught all of my notes, Mr. Chairman.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  No re-examination.
Procedural Matters:

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  It's quarter after 12:00, so why don't we take our normal one-hour break for lunch, and we will resume at 1:15.  I believe Mr. Thompson will be putting up Mr. Rosenkranz as a witness at that time.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, if I may just address the issue of argument before we break.  I think it will just be appropriate to have a brief chat about it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly, yes.

MR. SMITH:  When we return from argument -- sorry, from the lunch break we will obviously hear from Mr. Rosenkranz.  I understand Board Staff does not have any questions.  I will have a number of questions.  I don't expect to be particularly lengthy, but there will be some cross-examination, probably not much more than a half an hour.  But I wasn't sure what the Board's plans were with respect to argument.

May I make this suggestion, and you can agree or disagree, because it falls on you.  There is obviously some relatively complicated issues that have arisen, and there is a fair amount of information which we have been asked to provide, which we will provide.  I had initially been optimistic that I may be able to just roll right into oral argument at the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the hearing.  My friends, when this issue was first broached of oral argument in total, have asked for a period of time to provide written argument.

I think that in the circumstances it probably makes sense for me to not immediately roll into oral argument. I am in your hands as to how you would like to proceed.  We did originally set aside, I believe in Procedural Order No. 34, the possibility of sitting tomorrow.

While I may not have much of an audience for my argument, I am prepared -- I meant to my friends to the right, not you -- I am prepared to proceed tomorrow if that's how you want to proceed orally with my argument. Alternatively, we can file something in writing, but I would need more time to pull it together than overnight.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.

[Board Panel confers]


MR. QUESNELLE:  In that we do have the time set aside for tomorrow, Mr. Smith, if that's your choice -- and we will leave it to you -- we are quite prepared to sit tomorrow and have your argument-in-chief delivered orally tomorrow morning.  But again, if you want to consider that yourself, and we will confirm before the end of the day, obviously, or maybe right after lunch we will confirm with you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  I will seek instructions at the lunch hour.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And then we will confirm one way or the other.  And if parties can put their mind to the schedule beyond that for written submissions beyond that and how they would like to do that, and we will hear proposals on that as well.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:17 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:26 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  My apologies for the delay in getting started here.  Something came up at the lunch break.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe just briefly, before my friend begins, I have sought instructions and I will be giving the oral argument tomorrow morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  It will be 9:30 that we will do that tomorrow morning.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Okay.  Mr. Thompson, you have a witness.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

We have here John Rosenkranz today, to testify on behalf of CME, FRPO and the City of Kitchener.  Could he be sworn, please?
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John Rosenkranz; Sworn.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just before I begin, Mr. Chairman, I think on your dais there will be a revised schedule 5 to Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, that I would like to have given an exhibit number, if I might, and then we will deal with it in a moment.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's K2.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  REVISED SCHEDULE 5 TO EVIDENCE OF JOHN ROSENKRANZ.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks, and perhaps I can do this.

At line 13, there is a correction that should be noted.  Over in the column entitled "Source" it says "tax on lines 11 and 13."  It should be "lines 11 and 12."

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Mr. Rosenkranz, before the Board, we have two documents that have been marked for identification purposes, Exhibit I1.1 and I1.2.

The first document is entitled "Union Gas Storage Margins and Cost Allocation Proposal" and it's dated July 6th, 2011.

And the second is a letter from my firm, dated July 22nd, 2011, attaching the interrogatory responses that we submitted.

Do you have those documents in front of you?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Before we get into it, if we could just deal with your qualifications at the outset, if we go to the back of what is currently Exhibit I1.1, there is a CV for yourself, John A. Rosenkranz; am I correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  And I see from the first line in this first sentence in this CV that you are an energy economist with over 25 years of experience in natural gas and electric project development contract negotiation, market analysis and public utility regulation; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you just elaborate on the experience that you have had with respect to storage markets, storage operations, storage plant and that kind of thing?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  On two separate occasions, I have been involved with development projects for natural gas storage; one project in New York State, the Avoca gas storage project, where I was involved with the development, marketing and -- of that project.

Also was involved for PG&E Transmission in the Pacific Northwest, on the valuation of storage projects, and was the project manager for a test well that was drilled in Washington State to determine the feasibility of a particular site.

So I was certainly involved with how companies look at these types of investments.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what is your working knowledge with respect to the principles applicable to cost allocation?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  At a high level, I would say that I am familiar with utility cost allocation principles.  I have put in testimony on issues such as zoned versus postage stamp rates for an interstate pipeline company.

In terms of being someone who does a soup-to-nuts cost study for a utility, that's not my area of specialty, but I certainly am very familiar with how that is done.

MR. THOMPSON:  In the CV under "Professional Experience and Recent Projects" there are four of them mentioned.  The first:

"Consultant to the main public advocate for interstate pipeline and gas distributor rate proceedings."

What does that involve?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have worked with them on several different FERC rate cases, really looking at all aspects of the proposals, the cost of service, the services proposed by the companies, and helping them develop their positions and reach settlements.

MR. THOMPSON:  The second one is:

"Advisor to the Ontario Power Authority on natural gas issues related to long-term power contracts."

Could you just elaborate on what that involves, please?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly.  For the past five years on a continuous basis, I have been a consultant to the power authority.  The area that I assist them on is the natural gas transportation, storage and balancing agreements that various power producers with long-term contracts with the OPA have entered into.  And in some cases entering in -- helping them determine whether those were reasonable contracts to enter into, in the cases where those -- some portion of the cost is borne by the OPA.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will skip over the third one.  The fourth one is:
"Assisted the Ontario Energy Board in drafting new gas transmission, access and reporting rules."

Could you elaborate on what that involves, please?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  That has to do with the consulting support I gave to OEB Staff during the STAR proceeding, where I developed a jurisdictional review, and then helped them do the research to draft the initial rules and get feedback from stakeholders, and then refine those rules over a period of -- oh, I think that took about a year and a half.  It was a long, drawn-out affair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Now, if we just flip over to the second page under "Regulatory Proceedings" I see that you are showing there three proceedings before the OEB.

First of all, the 2010 natural gas market review.  That was -- was that a retainer by CME and others at this table?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, it was.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in the other two, NGEIR and then the Greenfield Energy Centre, could you just elaborate on what you were doing in each of those cases?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In the NGEIR proceeding, I was retained by APPRO to assist them specifically on the issues that related to the new services for power generators, assisted them in putting together their file testimony, and was involved in the settlement discussions with the utilities on that.

MR. THOMPSON:  And that case concerned storage in a big way, NGEIR?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It did, and that was to some extent one of the concerns of the generators, not to the extent that it was to some other intervenors.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then the Greenfield Energy Centre project, what was your involvement there?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Greenfield Energy Centre was when I was -- before I was an independent consultant, I was an employee of Calpine Corporation, was involved -- Calpine Corporation was the 50 percent owner of the Greenfield Energy Centre project.  Mitsui was the other 50 percent owner.

As part of the development of the -- my responsibility is to assist in the development of the gas supply arrangements for that project.

We came to the Board for permission to build a direct supply pipeline to connect with Vector.

MR. THOMPSON:  With respect to your education and work experience, I see you are a graduate -- sorry, your bachelor of arts and economics is from George Washington University; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Graduate study in economics from Northwestern University?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  You were an advisory economist to the Chicago Board of Trade for some three years?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  You were manager, gas modelling group, for an entity in Chicago.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, Plant Metrics Corporation.

MR. THOMPSON:  You were vice president of Interpro Inc. in Chicago for two or three years?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  You worked for J. Makowski as manager, project development?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  You worked for PG&E Gas Transmission as the director of business development?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  For Calpine Corporation as director, gas origination?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Correct?  And for -- since -- from 2006 to the present you have been a consultant.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is also correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, could you just briefly indicate to the Board what you were asked to do in this case and what you did?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In this case I was asked to assist in the discovery phase.  I was approached and asked if I would help to draft interrogatories related to this proceeding, and at the outset that was the -- that was all of the responsibility that I signed on for.

MR. THOMPSON:  And then following that, did you prepare the testimony that's currently marked at Exhibit I1.1?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  Subsequently I was asked to pull together the results of the discovery and make recommendations with respect to -- for the Board to consider with respect to the various issues that I was asked to look at.

MR. THOMPSON:  And is that material based on information Union has provided?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In terms of the numbers, it was all a compilation of the information provided by Union.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, I am asking that Mr. Rosenkranz be accepted as a witness qualified to provide opinion evidence as described in his testimony where he addresses deficiencies in Union's approach to the allocation of costs and calculation of margins incompatible with the NGEIR decision.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Smith, yes, I was --


MR. SMITH:  I do have some questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, understood.

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, you should have a package entitled "Union Gas Limited Cross-Examination Materials", I hope.

MS. SEBALJ:  Did you want those marked, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I would appreciate that.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's K2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  PACKAGE ENTITLED "UNION GAS LIMITED CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS"

MR. SMITH:  Mr. Rosenkranz, do you have in front of you your curriculum vitae?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Actually, I don't.

MR. SMITH:  You should be able to find your CV at the end of your report, sir, K1.1 -- sorry, I1.1.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Can someone provide it to me?  It's not in the version that I brought up.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will provide you with a copy.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.  I have it now, thank you.

MR. SMITH:  This is your CV that came attached to your report, correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you understood when you provided it along with your report that parties and the Board may rely on it?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you certainly, in preparing the CV, sought to fairly represent your experience?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I do want to start with a number of questions about your CV, and I want to start with your experience prior to becoming a consultant with Northside Energy, so I am looking in particular at your experience with Calpine.  Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it from your CV, you indicate that you were the director of gas origination at Calpine?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That was my final title upon leaving Calpine, yes.

MR. SMITH:  I think you also held the title of director gas marketing; isn't that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look, sir, at your -- at K2.3, and in particular I am looking at tab 1.  Do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  This is a copy of Volume 2 of the transcript in that proceeding.  And as I understand it, Calpine was a partner in Greenfield Energy Centre Limited Partnership; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I said previously 50 percent partner in that partnership.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And it was in that capacity in which you testified.  You testified as a representative of Calpine.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look over at page number 3 of the transcript -- do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I am asking you to look down at line 13.  These are questions in examination in-chief from your counsel, Mr. Moran.  Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what Mr. Moran asks you is that your current position with Calpine Corporation, you are the director of gas marketing, and that was the position you held in 2005?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I expect so, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And he says in the -- or asks you in line 9:

"And then you have been involved in a number of jobs that involve gas supply?"

Your answer:

"Yes, I have had a number of jobs that involve gas supply and planning."

And that was a correct statement?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, very much so.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And as I understand it, prior to that you worked for PG&E for approximately two to three years; is that correct?  I am looking at --


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.  And the reason I hesitate is just because the -- in my mind, the -- my position at Makowski through PG&E was -- is -- comes together because actually I joined PG&E through the acquisition of Makowski by finally PG&E, but, yes, it would have been technically roughly two years that I was a direct report to PG&E.

MR. SMITH:  And as you describe your responsibilities there, you were firstly the director of business development?  That was your job title?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That was my job title, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what you say in your CV, in terms of your responsibilities, was to identify and manage development projects and investment opportunities.  Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you indicate in particular two activities that you undertook during your period at PG&E, and they are, firstly, you acted as a project manager in respect of certain geologic testing?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, that was the test well that I described.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And I take it what you did as the project manager was, you were responsible to make sure that whatever potential site you were looking at would be suitable as a natural gas storage cavern.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That was certainly part of it.  It really went back further of helping them assess a number of different proposals they had to look at -- to acquire interests in a number of different sites, to work with a partner, joint venture partner, on going forward with one of the sites, and then doing the -- doing the testing at that site.

MR. SMITH:  And when we look at your second activity, you indicate that you were the owner-representative and management committee member of two interstate pipeline partnerships, so you sat on whatever the management committee was for those projects.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Exactly, and the two pipelines were the Iroquois Gas Transmission and the Portland Natural Gas Transmission Company, both in the New England area.

MR. SMITH:  And prior to that you worked for EnerPro and Planmetrics, and I take it that you would agree with me from the way you've described your experience with those companies that your position primarily involved responsibilities in the area of gas supply?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Certainly gas supply, particularly on the planning and, as I said, portfolio analysis side, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Now, you look -- you list down -- and Mr. Thompson touched on this briefly -- a number of regulatory proceedings that you have been involved with, and I want to focus firstly on the -- or primarily on the Ontario Energy Board proceedings.  Do you have those?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I see them.

MR. SMITH:  So we've touched on the first one that -- from the bottom up, EB-2005-0441, that was the matter where you testified as a representative of Calpine in the bypass application by GEC, correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think I said direct supply pipeline, but if you want to call it "bypass", yes, that was a proceeding.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe it's particularly touchy from my client's perspective.  Call it however you like.  But that's the proceeding.

Number 2 is the NGEIR proceeding, correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, you testified as a consultant retained on behalf of APPrO?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And there, you specifically testified in relation to the power services aspect of that proceeding; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And I am right, sir, that that aspect of the proceeding settled?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That aspect of the proceeding of the services themselves, yes, that settled.  There was --


MR. SMITH:  And I have --


MR. THOMPSON:  Let him finish, please.

MR. SMITH:  Did you want to add something to that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  There was a remaining issue with respect to the pricing of certain services, that I believe was carried over, but the basic -- there was a settlement on the basic issues.

MR. SMITH:  And I have at tab 2 of K2.3, a copy of the transcript from the technical conference; do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Oh, yes.  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  And here again, your evidence was being called by Mr. Moran.

Do you have the bottom of page 192 of the transcript?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And Mr. Moran asks you:

"And previously, you have experience with a number of different companies on the gas supply side, right?"

And that's the question Mr. Moran asks you, and you indicate at the top of the next page:

"Yes, a number of different experiences.  Yes."

And that was a true statement, I take it?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I have not been able to find a reference to any evidence that you gave in the NGEIR proceeding itself, other than the technical conference.

Am I correct that you did not testify at the hearing itself?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe we did have a panel at the hearing.

MR. SMITH:  And would that have been -- I stand to be corrected, but does that -- would that have been in relation to the power services aspects of the case that did not get settled, whatever that was, the pricing of those services?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's my recollection, yes, that the reason we were still testifying was that there was remaining issue with respect to the pricing of storage services.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I have -- the third area in which you testified was the natural gas market review, and here again you were retained by CME and others; is that -- do I understand that correctly?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  That was roughly a year ago.

MR. SMITH:  And I have behind tab 3 of your -- of Exhibit K2.3, a copy of the cover letter of your report.

Do you have that, sir?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And then looking over a couple of pages to the first page, am I right that the natural gas market review, as you have indicated, was a proceeding initiated by the Board to consider how changes in the North American gas supply markets could impact the Ontario energy sector?

That's what that proceeding involved?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, it did.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, at the back of that tab, we have a copy of a CV that you provided at that time.

Do you that, at the back of tab 3?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I am looking at it now.

MR. SMITH:  And the way in which you describe your experience at that time, or in this CV, you indicate that:

"Mr. Rosenkranz is an energy consultant with experience in natural gas supply planning, pipeline and storage development, and utility regulation."

And that was a fair statement of your experience; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I believe so.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if we look back at the CV you have provided in this proceeding -- I am sorry.

Just before we go to that, at tab 3, the back of the last page, am I correct, sir, that in this CV, nowhere is there any explicit reference to having expertise in cost allocation?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Which one are we talking about?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I suppose it's either, but I am now looking at tab 3, last page, tab 3 of Exhibit K2.3.

I do not see anywhere explicit reference to your having expertise in the area of cost allocation.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  To my mind, cost allocation is one -- in a broad sense, is -- falls under the whole issue of utility regulation.

MR. SMITH:  Now, if we look at your CV that's attached to your report in this proceeding, it's equally fair to say that nowhere on this CV is there any explicit reference to cost allocation; is that fair?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is very fair.

MR. SMITH:  Now, just focussing still on the CV and your experience with North Side Energy, am I correct that North Side is your personal consulting firm?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is correct.

MR. SMITH:  Now, looking at the recent projects you have been involved with, there are four, and I take it you listed these particular four because they summarized fairly your recent significant projects that you have undertaken?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I can't say that they were chosen with a particular thought in mind.

I do update this from time to time.  I work for a number of different clients on a number of different subjects, and I try to highlight the ones that are most relevant for the time and for the project at hand.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Rosenkranz.  Those are my questions in cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  In the absence of re-examination, I would like to make argument as to my friend's qualifications.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just a couple of questions.

Mr. Rosenkranz, Mr. Penney referred you to tab 3 in his brief.

MR. SMITH:  If only.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, yes, right.  Penney, still haunting me.

[Laughter]


MR. THOMPSON:  Anyway, Mr. Smith referred to the CV that was attached to the natural gas market review report.

He didn't refer you to the last paragraph.  I just want to draw your attention to that.

The first two sentence read:
"Mr. Rosenkranz has participated in pipeline rate cases and other regulatory proceedings.  He has submitted testimony at the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and appeared as an expert witness before the Ontario Energy Board and state utility commissions."

Is that right?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of your working knowledge of storage operators and storage companies, do you have knowledge of the factors that drive costs to be incurred by storage companies?

MR. SMITH:  With respect, I don't think that's an appropriate question in re-examination.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Board, I have attached in my compendium K2.3 at Tab 7.

MS. SPOEL:  I don't think your microphone is one, Mr. Smith.

MR. SMITH:  My apologies.  I have attached at tab 7 of my book of materials a decision of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, a decision in a case Dulong and Merrill Lynch Canada.  Do you have that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  This is, in my submission, a leading case on the admissibility of expert evidence in civil or criminal proceedings, and in my submission, no different principles should apply before this Board.

This case has been cited and followed many times since it was rendered in 2006.

The decision that you have before you is a decision on a motion challenging the admissibility of certain expert evidence in the context of a broker dealer claim.

If I can ask you to turn to tab -- sorry, to page 5 of that decision, under heading B, paragraph 8:  “Expert evidence is a type of opinion evidence."  Do you have that?

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  And what the court indicates there is the -- and recites the well-known principles laid out by Justice Sopinka in the Mohan case for the admissibility of what would otherwise be inadmissible evidence.  And to be admissible, opinion evidence has to meet four requirements.  The evidence must be relevant, it must be necessary to assist the trier of fact, there must be no exclusionary rule otherwise prohibiting the receipt of the evidence, and the evidence is given by a properly qualified expert.

My submissions focus on the fourth requirement, the evidence must be given by a properly qualified expert.

And in my submission, with no criticism of Mr. Rosenkranz, he is not qualified to provide the opinion evidence that is laid out in his report, as I will come to.

If I can ask you to turn to paragraph 19 of the decision.  It's at the beginning of page 9.  And under the heading "is Mr. Malcolmson a properly qualified expert", Justice Ducharme there lays out there for Mohan the requirement that:

"The evidence must be given by a witness who is shown to have acquired special or peculiar knowledge through study or experience in respect of the matters on which he or she undertakes to testify."

And if I can ask you, just keeping that, to turn back a few pages to paragraph 3 on page 2.  I think it is of central importance for the Board to bear in mind at all times when considering Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, to bear in mind why he is being asked to testify and the nature of his opinion.  It is not to ask whether or not Mr. Rosenkranz is otherwise qualified to give a different opinion.

So if you look at page 2, paragraph 3, Justice Ducharme says:

"It is, of course, important to consider for what purpose Mr. Malcolmson's evidence is being tendered."

And then Justice Ducharme lays out the fact that the plaintiff in that case was less than clear as to the particular scope of the expertise and the qualification.

Paragraph 4 on the next page:

"It should be obvious that the parties seeking to qualify an expert witness should define with precision the scope of her proposed expertise.  This is important both in terms of the initial admissibility enquiry, as well as the orderly reception of the expert's viva voce evidence; i.e., such a clear delineation is required in cases, frequently happens an objection is made that a witness is going beyond the area in which he or she was qualified to give expert opinion."

And then there is a cite from Justice Lamer in the Marquard case:

"The proper practice is for counsel presenting an expert witness to qualify the expert in all areas in which the expert is to give opinion evidence.  This is done, no question as to the admissibility of their opinion arises."

Which takes us back to page 9, dealing with the test for proper qualification.  And admittedly, as explained on paragraph 20, the "how" of -- the "how", as to how somebody obtains the requisite particular or special knowledge, is not as important as whether or not they in fact possess the knowledge, so it could be by academic training, or it could be through experience.

Over at paragraph 21, Justice Ducharme very helpfully, in my submission, lays out the factors that the court regularly considers when assessing whether or not someone is properly qualified to provide opinion evidence, and what Justice Ducharme says is:

"Trial judges regularly consider factors such as the proposed witness's professional qualifications;" 2), "her actual experience;" 3), "her participation or membership in professional associations;" 4), "the nature and extent of her publications;" 5), "her involvement in teaching;" 6), "her involvement in courses or conferences in the field;" and lastly, "her efforts to keep current with the literature in the field and whether or not the witness has previously been qualified to testify as an expert in the area."

And in my submission, when you apply those factors against Mr. Rosenkranz's proposed testimony, in my submission, it's demonstrated that he does not have qualifications necessary to provide an opinion on the issue of cost allocation, which is, of course, the primary basis of his opinion.

So if we look at the factors, dealing first with the witness's proposed professional qualifications, there is nothing in Mr. Rosenkranz's curriculum vitae or the examination that's come out on that issue that relates to the issue of cost allocation.

Two, his actual experience, and in my submission, it's instructive to look at how Mr. Rosenkranz has described himself, both on his curriculum vitae and in the few cases in which he has testified.  And in my submission, the only fair summary of that is to conclude that he may have expertise in the area of gas supply, but he has no particular experience in the issue of cost allocation, and Mr. Rosenkranz was fair to concede in examination-in-chief that the soup-to-nuts, as he described it, of preparing a cost allocation study, is something that he has never done.

Three, participation or membership in professional associations, there is nothing on Mr. Rosenkranz's CV that would lead you to believe that he has any experience in relation to the issue of cost allocation.  Indeed, there are no professional associations listed.

Next, I think we're at five, the nature and extent of his publications.  There are no publications listed on Mr. Rosenkranz's CV at all, certainly none that relate to the issue of cost allocation.

Six, his involvement in teaching.  Similarly, there is an absence of any evidence that he is involved in teaching on the issue of cost allocation.

Next, his involvement in courses or at conferences in the field.  And again, there is no evidence of any involvement in conferences or courses in the area of cost allocation.

Next, his efforts to keep current with the literature in the field.  Similarly, no experience whatsoever or evidence of such experience.

And then finally, whether the witness has previously been qualified to testify as an expert in the area.  And in my submission, there is equally no evidence of that either.

My friend -- the witness in his proceeding -- or in his CV lists a number of proceedings in which he has testified.  It's apparent that a number of those proceedings are matters in which he appeared as a witness in his capacity, employment capacity.  He was not admitted as an expert, nor was he sought to be tendered as an expert.


On the one occasion that we have evidence of that he testified in front of this Board, it was in the natural gas market review, and as the witness testified there, that was a proceeding, again, dealing with gas supply.

So in my submission, there is nothing in that that would lead to a determination that he ought to be qualified for the purposes of giving opinion evidence.

So in my submission, when you look at the factors the court normally applies in assessing expert evidence, in my submission, Mr. Rosenkranz's experience leads only to the conclusion that he is not qualified to provide an opinion on cost allocation.  And I do recognize that there is a tendency in certain circumstances to allow the evidence in and to go to weight, but I would urge you in this case to discharge your gatekeeping obligation and to not admit the evidence, as it's not from a properly qualified witness.

I should say, so that it's perfectly clear, there are two parts to Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, dealing first with storage -- or dealing with cost allocations and storage margins.

As I understood my friend's proposed qualification, the qualification would just encompass all aspects of the report.  And in my submission, that proposed tendering is deficient, and the witness does not have the qualifications to give the evidence.

Those are my submissions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you Mr. Smith.

Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, I will be very brief here.

This is not a court, in my submission.  It's a regulatory tribunal.  You do have discretion to receive Mr. Rosenkranz's testimony.  What weight you give to it is for you to determine.

The fact of the matter is Mr. Rosenkranz has been of tremendous assistance to the parties that have retained him in getting the information from Union as to what has been going on here for some years.

And that, in my submission, attests to his expertise with respect to understanding the storage business.  The special knowledge that he has has enabled us to get to the bottom of what's been happening here.

In terms of the scope of the testimony, I tried to be careful when I asked you to accept him as capable of providing evidence on the material described in his evidence.

There really -- if you look at Exhibit I1.1 on page 1, there are the four bullet points dealing with allocation of costs, upon which he expands in his report, and there are three bullet points on the margin calculations for storage services deferral accounts, upon which he expands in his report.

And as he has indicated, the information, the factual information contained in here that forms a basis for his recommendations comes from Union.

So I respectfully submit that the evidence is admissible, you should receive it, you should have the benefit of his views, as we have had, and what weight you to it at the end of the day is another matter.

Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Ms. Sebalj, do you have any submissions?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I have nothing specific with respect to Mr. Rosenkranz or about the CVs that you have before you, but I did want to bring to your attention section 15 of the Statutory Powers Procedures Act, which of course this Board is subject to and its rules are made under, which says:

"Subject to subsections (2) and (3), a tribunal may admit as evidence at a hearing, whether or not given or proven under oath or affirmation or admissible as evidence in a court, (a) any oral testimony; and (b) any document or other thing, relevant to the subject-matter of the proceeding and may act on such evidence, but the tribunal may exclude anything unduly repetitious."

Just to make sure we are complete, subsection (2) says:

"Nothing is admissible in evidence at a hearing, (a) that would be inadmissible in a court by reason of any privilege under the law of evidence; or (b) that is inadmissible by the statute under which the proceeding arises or any other statute.

And subsection (3) relates to conflicts with other acts.

I have had a quick look at the rules, and there is nothing specific with respect to expert evidence.  There is, of course, Rule 13, which deals with evidence generally, but it speaks to written evidence and that it has to be prepared and include a statement of the qualifications of the person who prepared the evidence.

But I also direct you to Rules 2.01 and 2.02.

2.01 says:

"These Rules shall be liberally construed in the public interest to secure the most just, expeditious, and efficient determination on the merits of every proceeding before the Board."

And 2.02:

"Where procedures are not provided for in these Rules..."

Which, in my submission, the admission of expert evidence is not:

"...the Board may do whatever is necessary and permitted by law to enable it to effectively and completely adjudicate on the matter before it."

That is just by way of providing guidance to you.

You have heard the arguments of the counsel with respect to Mr. Rosenkranz specifically, but in my submission, while this court case is helpful, I think the Statutory Powers Procedures Act and the Rules give you the ability to make a determination that this evidence can be admitted, and that you can then let any concerns that you have with respect to the qualifications of the witness go to weight.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board has found the submissions very helpful, and I think in responding, we will accept the admissibility of the evidence.  We will go to weight, which has been the Board's long-standing practice on this.  We are informed by the conversation around the qualifications, and they do go to weight.

We have found that the evidence has been helpful and will assist the Board in its making its determinations, and therefore the Board will exercise its discretion and allow the evidence in.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Okay.  Mr. Rosenkranz, so dealing firstly with what is Exhibit I1.1 for identification, this is the document entitled "Union Gas Storage Margins and Cost Allocation Proposal," dated July 6th, 2011.

Was this material prepared by you or under your direction?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, it was.

MR. THOMPSON:  And I understand there are a couple of corrections in the material at page 13; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  There are two corrections, both of them are on page 13.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you just provide those to the Board?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I will, yes.

Starting from the top of the page, it's actually the third line down, there is a typo.  That third line says storage costs for 2010 to be 5.294 million; it should say "higher" than it would be using the Board-approved cost, so the word "higher" is missing after "million."

The second correction, on the same page 13, is two lines from the bottom.  This is to take into account the revisions to schedule 5, so from the second line from the bottom, "increases from 8.7 million to 12.2 million," "12.2 million" has been changed to "11.7 million."

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Those are my corrections.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, with respect to schedule 5, could you just briefly explain what that reflects compared to the original filing?

This is the document that we filed at the outset of the proceedings this afternoon.  I don't have the number, unfortunately.

So the revised schedule 5 was updated to reflect what?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Could I -- a clarification.  Revised relative to the first version?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.

The reason we have a revised schedule 5 is that there was information provided during the Technical Conference that did better inform us in terms of the nature of certain of the costs, and we have made the adjustments that were required.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the bottom line is with the revised document, which is K2.2, the change in ratepayer share for 2010 dealing with the long-term storage account reduced to $3,055,000.  That's at line 17; is that correct, compared to the initial version?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It is now $3,055,000, correct, and it was $3,583,000.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

And then other than that, the numbers at 26 are the same, sorry, line 28?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  The additional information we got did not affect the short-term storage services.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Now, just briefly with respect to your -- well, excuse me.

I guess, Mr. Chairman, we should have the testimony marked now as an exhibit?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  It will be Exhibit K2.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  CME EVIDENCE BY MR. ROSENKRANZ


MR. THOMPSON:  And then, Mr. Rosenkranz, the other document that we need to have you adopt under oath are the interrogatory responses.  Those are contained in Exhibit I1.2, marked for identification.

Were these interrogatory responses prepared by you?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, they were.

MR. THOMPSON:  And are there any corrections?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.

MR. THOMPSON:  And do you adopt the responses that are contained there for the purposes of your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Could we have that marked then as --


MS. SEBALJ:  K2.5.

MR. THOMPSON:  K2.5.  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  CME INTERROGATORY RESPONSES AS PREPARED BY MR. ROSENKRANZ

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in your K2.4, your report, there are two main topics.  One is proposed methodology to separate non-utility storage costs, and then the second is margin calculations for deferral accounts.

Could you just briefly describe to the Board the approach you took in developing your pre-filed material on each of those topics?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  Starting with the first section, which dealt with the proposal for -- to separate the non-utility storage costs, and particularly the one-time allocation of plant costs, the approach we took, which is different from the approach Union took, is to go look at this as something that is required as a result of the NGEIR decision, and look at the NGEIR decision, look at the storage facilities, and the services, particularly, that those provide, and come to a -- and then working with Union to get the information that comes up with a reasonable allocation.

I think the difference in our approach was that we did not interpret the NGEIR decision to say that the 2007 cost study had to be used to do this allocation of costs.  So we tried to take a fresh look at it from the standpoint of certain -- the facilities, the plant in place at the time of the separation, what was that plant, and what was its value, both in terms of the services it could provide to in-franchise customers or utility customers, and then also what was it -- what service could provide that had value in the non-utility market.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  With respect to the issue of -- or the matter of reviewing the deferral account balances for 2010, here again I think we took a different approach from Union, but I think here the positions are somewhat reversed.

Our viewpoint, or the way I approach that, is that this is still something that's very closely intertwined with the rates that are currently in effect, which were set based on the 2007 cost study.

So in terms of the definitions of the services and how those costs and revenues should be treated, I felt that it was appropriate to follow what was done and what had been done at the time of the last rate case and carry that through 'til the next rebasing proceeding.

So that was the basis under which we had looked at those particular costs and revenues.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Now, my last question is with respect to a sentence on page 9 of your report.  At the top of the page -- it's actually more than one sentence -- it reads as follows:

"A complete cost allocation study will need to be done for the 2013 rebasing application.  It is important that a detailed side-by-side comparison of utility and non-utility storage O&M costs be provided with that application to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of the O&M cost Union allocates to both non-utility and utility storage."

Could you just elaborate on your rationale for that statement, please -- or those statements?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Those statements were based on some concern, and hopefully the concerns were -- are perhaps even unfounded, that -- but from some of the evidence that was put forward by Union that at the next rebasing all that would be provided would be a cost study for the utility assets, leading us to be concerned that there would be no information provided on the -- at all having to do with the non-utility storage operations, even though there has been forbearance, that it still is an integrated storage operation, to assess the reasonableness of the utility side.

It would seem to be important to be able to compare that to the costs that have been allocated to the non-utility side.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Smith?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I do have some brief cross-examination.

Mr. Rosenkranz, if I can just take you to your report.  As I understand it, focusing first on the issue of cost allocation, as I understand your evidence as it relates to cost allocation, you make a number of criticisms of Union's methodology to separate costs between its regulated and unregulated businesses; is that fair?  Did you hear me?

You make a number of criticisms of Union's methodology for separating costs between its regulated and unregulated businesses.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I do observe that there are some aspects of their proposed methodology that I feel are incorrect.

MR. SMITH:  So if we look at page 3 of your report, the first of which, at the bottom of that report you identify number 1 as the failure to use actual information, and what you say is that it's unreasonable to use out-of-date estimates developed for an entirely different purpose when actual storage supply and utilization information is at hand.  Do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you expand upon that in your answers to interrogatories, and in particular answer number 2 to an interrogatory from Board Staff.  And that's Exhibit K2.5?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have that.

MR. SMITH:  And in the first part of your response, under (a) you say:

"The EB-2005-0520 cost study was not prepared for the purpose of making a permanent separation of Union's utility and non-utility storage plant as of December 31, 2006.  It was prepared for an entirely different purpose; namely, for calculating utility rates at a time when all of Union's storage assets, including assets used for ex-franchise sales under the C1 rate schedule, were classified as utility assets."

You see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And you are aware, sir -- well, let me just back up.  I take it you have had an opportunity to review the transcript from yesterday's proceedings?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I was able to listen to most of the proceeding.  I didn't have time to -- I was travelling this morning, so I didn't get a chance to look at the transcript.

MR. SMITH:  Are you aware that Ms. Elliott gave certain evidence in relation to a question from Mr. Thompson about the use of actual values and it being Union's evidence that it did apply the allocations in its 2007 cost allocation method to actual information as at December 31, 2006?  Were you aware of that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I heard that, and I think that was a misunderstanding on her part of what was being referred to.  She seemed to be concerned that there was question about whether she used actual plant balances, and certainly we are not questioning the actual plant balances. Everything we are talking about here has to do with the numbers that are being used to allocate those plant balances.  So I thought that she was misinterpreting the criticism.

MR. SMITH:  So if I understand your criticism, you are saying that actual December 31 2006 information should have been used in the preparation of the allocation factors themselves.  Have I understood that correctly?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  To my mind, it's common sense that you would use information that most accurately represented the situation, the amount of storage in place, the deliverability of that storage, and how that storage was being -- was being utilized at the time of the separation.

My understanding is the 2007 cost study was completed at least a year before the separation, and it was done based on forecast numbers, not actual numbers from the date of separation.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I am going to suggest to you that the Board, in the NGEIR decision, confronted that very argument you are putting to the Board here today, and disagreed with it; do you agree with that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Could you say that differently?  There was a "disagree" and "agree" in the same sentence.

MR. SMITH:  Well, if you turn to tab 4 of Exhibit K2.3, I am going to suggest to you that the argument that you are making now was made in NGEIR and rejected by the Board.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I certainly do not have that interpretation of the NGEIR decision.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to tab 4, page 72?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have it.

MR. SMITH:  If you look down the second paragraph from the bottom:

"Some parties argue that a greater degree of separation was required; others argued that Union's cost allocation study was inadequate.  Energy Probe argued that accounting separation is not sufficient, because the historic cost allocation work could not have anticipated the dramatic change of storage forbearance."

And that is the argument that you are making here today, that at the time the cost allocation study was prepared, forbearance was not anticipated; do you agree with that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No.  I think the first statement I said was that at the time the cost study was prepared, the information that a reasonable person would want to use to do the separation was not available.

Also, I interpret the section that you referred to and this whole question of the quote-unquote adequacy of the 2007 cost study and whether a new cost study had to be redone, having to do with the rates that would be put into effect at that time.

I didn't see any reference to the separation of plant balances, which would have no effect on rates until the next rebasing.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So if we look over on page 74, at the top of the page, sir, the Board, I guess beginning first on the page 73, the Board findings:

"The Board finds that functional separation is not necessary.  The evidence before the Board is that it would be costly and difficult to establish a functional separation of utility and non-utility storage, and there was no evidence to suggest that there would be significant benefits from such a separation.  To the extent there may be concerns regarding the integrated operations, these will be addressed through the reporting requirements set out in section 5.4."

And then if you look at the top of the next page, the Board goes on to say:

"We conclude that Union's current cost allocation study is adequate for the purposes of separating the regulated and unregulated costs and revenues for ratemaking purposes."

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you agree -- do you agree with me that the Board, in the NGEIR conclude -- in the NGEIR proceeding concluded that Union's then-current cost allocation study was adequate for the purposes of separating its regulated and unregulated businesses?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I am afraid you truncated the sentence.

It refers to "unregulated costs and revenues for ratemaking purposes."

In the context of the NGEIR decision and the timing, how that timing dovetails with this particular rate case, my interpretation is that what the Board was saying is:  We are not going to force Union to go and duplicate the rate case now, to set -- the rate case cost study to set rates that we will then use going -- until the next rebasing.

It does not say anything about plant.

MR. SMITH:  I take it, sir, you would agree with me that at the time of the NGEIR decision, Union also had before the Board its 2007 rates case?  You are aware of that?  They were both going on in the 2006 period?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's exactly what I was referring to, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And are you aware in the NGEIR decision of any direction anywhere by the Board of the Board indicating to Union that it ought to prepare a separate cost allocation study for the purposes of preparing plant balances, anywhere in this decision?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Where the issue of the allocation of plant having to do with NGEIR came out?

MR. SMITH:  I read this decision, and my question to you is this is the one place, these pages that I have found, that deal with the adequacy of Union's cost allocation study in the context of the NGEIR decision; you have read the NGEIR decision.  I am asking you:  Is there anywhere else in this decision that you read a direction from the Board that Union should prepare a separate cost allocation study for the purposes of giving effect to the NGEIR decision?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't find a place where it says that that cost allocation study should be done for the permanent separation of plant.

What I see in the NGEIR decision is that the Board was expecting that there would be subsequent reallocations of the assets between utility and non-utility assets in subsequent rate cases as the needs of the in-franchise customers required.

I can't point you to the exact places, but there is discussion of:  What is the utility asset?  It is the requirements of the in-franchise customers.

What would in-franchise rates -- excuse me, utility rates be based on?  They would be based on the portion of the storage asset that the utility customers needed.

Would that change in subsequent rate cases?  That's my -- that's the way I read it, that it was expected that that would change, the split between the utility asset and the non-utility asset.

Was there any governor or cap on how much that could change?  Yes, there was 100 PJ cap on the amount of the utility that the utility asset could reach.

But my interpretation of the NGEIR decision, my reading of it in terms of definition of the utility asset versus non-utility asset is that the expectation was that that would be revisited at future rate cases.

MR. SMITH:  Well, that's helpful, because I think you have put the matter squarely now, which is, I take it, your views are informed by your interpretation of NGEIR as -- in relation to the utility -- the definition of utility assets.  So let me ask you this question.

Do you agree with me that the utility asset is that amount up to 100 PJs, and the non-utility asset is above 100 PJs?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I can't agree with it exactly the way you said it.  Perhaps could I take a crack at it?

MR. SMITH:  You can tell me what you mean, certainly.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My interpretation is that the utility asset is the requirement of the utility customers, and everything else will be –- is the non-utility asset.

MR. SMITH:  So if I understand, what you are saying is at the time of the NGEIR decision, it was estimated that the in-franchise customers required 92.1 PJs of space, so you would say that that's the utility asset; correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think it says it almost in those exact terms in the NGEIR decision, yes.

MR. SMITH:  So the utility asset, on your interpretation, fluctuates year by year, based upon Union's forecast of in-franchise needs?  Is that your interpretation of the NGEIR decision?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That is exactly mine, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Do you believe -- well, no, we will save the interpretation of the NGEIR decision for argument.

I take it you would agree with me that as between you and the Board you have no particular expertise in interpreting the NGEIR decision?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I did sit through a number of hours of the NGEIR hearings, even the times that, you know, APPrO was not appearing, so I was there.  I have read many of the transcripts from the times I wasn't there, and I have read the NGEIR decision many times, and I have also read Union's evidence about the fact that it was, in my interpretation, because of a particular internal accounting recommendation that they received that they internally have made -- have called the full 100 PJs to be the utility asset because -- for accounting reasons, and I am not an accountant, but that's my understanding of their evidence.

That does not change the NGEIR decision, and I think that once -- based on that interpretation of the NGEIR decision, this whole issue of what you do with the 7.9 PJs is looked at differently.

MR. SMITH:  Let me the turn to the issue of optimization, and we will save the interpretation for argument.  Let me turn to the issue of optimization. I take it this is another area in which you complain about Union's methodology, correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have some disagreements, I guess would be a way to say it, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, in effect, what you are saying is that the total storage capacity should be increased by the amount of Union's optimization activities; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Again, I have a hard time agreeing with the way you put it, so I would like to try to explain it a little differently.  I mean, the approach we took, as I explained, was -- at the outset was to look at the allocation of the costs based on who is getting what benefits.

And with respect to the in-franchise or utility customers, it's pretty clear, in terms of getting a handle on what the value of that storage is.  It's providing specific services up to a certain quantity, and the value is -- for rate-making purposes is cost-based.

With respect to -- and again, here is the -- NGEIR, in my mind, clearly said that there is a certain amount that is being used for -- as a utility asset for utility customers.  All of the rest is for the -- is the cost responsibility of the non-utility business.

So in terms of what you do with optimization revenue, optimization revenue should be -- I think the Board was pretty clear that the short-term margins or the net revenue from optimization activities should go -- should be allocated based on what assets are underpinning that activity.

MR. SMITH:  We will come to the short-term account.  But I am talking --


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  But I am talking about short-term and long-term.  So --


MR. SMITH:  I am not talking about the margin accounts, I am talking about the separation of plant, and as I understand the calculation you did with respect to the separation of plant, you included in your schedule 2 space for Union's optimization activity as part of its available space.  Have I not understood that correctly?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That I agree with, and I apologize.  I got a little -- I was meaning to get there, if you had given me a little more time.  As I was trying to say, in terms of the storage space, to my mind, is not as important as what that space can do.  And if the -- if under NGEIR the optimization space is being entirely -- if the revenue from the services coming from that optimization space is going entirely to the non-utility business, that should be factored into the allocation of the underlying costs.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Do you agree with me that NGEIR contemplated a one-time separation of plant between utility and non-utility?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think I just disagreed with you on that.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So your --


MR. ROSENCRANZ:  My interpretation is that they looked at that as something that would be changing over time, and that the rates would be based only on the utility asset that was based on the requirements at the time of that rate case.

MR. SMITH:  I see.  So talking about optimization space, what optimization space is it that you say should be included as part of Union's actual physical storage space? Is it optimization space in the year in which Union is rebasing?  Is it optimization space, an average of the space that has been in place between 2007 and today?  What number do you say should be included?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  With respect to the -- we don't have a good name for them, but I refer to them as the legacy assets, the storage assets at the time of the separation, December 31st, 2006, my interpretation is that that should be done based on the optimization space that can be created from the assets as of that date.

So, no, I don't say that -- I think additional optimization space would be underpinned by incremental assets, and those have been determined to be non-utility.

MR. SMITH:  Do you agree with me that optimization space itself and how much optimization space you can make use of depends on market conditions?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's not my interpretation of the optimization space that they are talking about, in terms of -- there is certain amount of firm service that you can make out of a given set of assets.  That's my interpretation.

MR. SMITH:  Well, let me ask the question this way:  Do you agree with me that the amount of gas loans or encroachment that Union can undertake in any one year is dependent on storage prices and market conditions?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, I believe you said the amount of -- the amount they can make, the amount of space they can make available, I believe, is tied to the physical attributes of the storage pools.

MR. SMITH:  All right.  Well, do you agree with me that optimization space is not physical storage space?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Optimization space is not physical storage space.  I will agree with that.

MR. SMITH:  And do you agree with me that optimization space does not attract fixed costs?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I don't know what's meant by that statement.  Perhaps you can phrase it differently.

MR. SMITH:  Tell me what part of it that you didn't understand in that --


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  "Attracts fixed costs".

MR. SMITH:  Well, what fixed costs are, in your mind, associated with optimization space?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  All of the fixed costs of the integrated storage operation.  To my mind, optimization is something that is done by making full use of the physical storage space, so -- I will stop there.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe this would help, and you can tell me if you agree or disagree.  Imagine I have a two-car garage, and I am going to call that my storage cavern, but imagine I have a two-car garage, and I have two cars that I can park in that physically, and I can never have three cars in that garage.  It is only big enough for two.

As I understand optimization space -- and you can agree or disagree with that -- that if it happens to be at any one time that one of the cars is not in my garage, I may be able to park a notional third car there periodically, but I can never physically park three cars in my garage.  Do you agree with that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  As long as we are at your garage I am fine.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And so the costs associated with building the two-car garage are the same whether or not I build a garage that has two cars in it and never move them or a garage that has two cars that I periodically move in and out of my driveway; you agree with that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I absolutely agree with that.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, another complaint you make is in relation to the issue of transmission assets by Union's non-utility storage operation, and I am looking in particular at page 9 of K2.4.

Do you have that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do, sorry.

MR. SMITH:  As I understand your criticism here, the fundamental point you make is that if the non-utility business is using utility transmission assets, there should be some sort of recognition in that in the form of a charge; is that correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the corollary of that, I take it, is if the non-utility business is not using such assets, then no charge?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Non-utility?  If there is no relationship between the non-utility storage operation and any of the transmission assets?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  No charge?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Then I don't see a reason that there would need to be an allocation of costs.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, turning again to the margin on short-term sales, and I won't belabour the point, because as I understand your answers earlier, your opinion in this respect is informed by your interpretation of the NGEIR decision.

Have I got it right that you say that the amount that should be charged as a cost against the short-term deferral account is $599,000?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Can you help me with that?

MR. SMITH:  Well, that's $2.261 million minus $1.662 million.  And the adjustment you propose to make is $1.662 million, as I understand it from your page 11.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I am having just a hard time keeping up with the numbers.  I am still back in your garage.

[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  So let's go to your page 11, sir.

You say, margins on short-term storage services, second sentence:

"This calculation is incorrect because Union has shifted 1.662 million per year from the long-term storage cost of service to the short-term storage services account."

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct, and I am recommending that $1.662 million be removed from costs for the purposes of calculating the short-term margins.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And you are aware that that would leave $599,000 remaining in that account as a cost in the short-term margin account?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.  I am finally catching up.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you are aware that that was the amount that was forecasted in the 2007 cost allocation methodology?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I understand that to be the cost associated with 2 PJs of C1 storage space.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And that was going to be my next question.

You are aware that at the time Union prepared its 2007 cost study, it was forecasting S&T sales, short-term sales of just 2 PJs?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I am aware of that now, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And just so that we have it on the record, if you look, sir, at tab 5, this is Union's prefiled evidence in its rate case.  It's the evidence of Mr. Isherwood and Mr. Poredos, and if I can ask you to turn to page 6 of that evidence, line 18:

"Approximately 2.1 PJs of short-term storage space has been allocated to ex-franchise services in the current gas supply plan."

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And then over to the next tab, tab 6, this was an interrogatory response on behalf -- to your client, FRPO, B3.12:

"The 2.261 million replaces the 0.599 million from the 2007 cost study."

And then it goes on to explain how that 599 represents the forecasted demand costs associated with approximately 2 PJs of short-term space; do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  You see that?

Now, I take it you are aware of the fact that Union sells at least 7.9 PJs of space on a short-term basis now, subsequent to NGEIR?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I am aware that over the past 10 years that number has fluctuated between 10 and some lower number over time.

MR. SMITH:  I am just focussing on the period subsequent to NGEIR.

So you are aware that subsequent to NGEIR -- and Union would say consistent with NGEIR -- Union has sold at least 7.9 PJs of space on a short-term basis?  You are aware of that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I mean, I would have to go back and check the interrogatory response.  I believe it's B3.4...

MR. SMITH:  I think 3.4 is optimization space.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  If you want me to take it, subject to check, I will.

MR. SMITH:  Subject to check.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  It's been in that ballpark.  I have trouble with your reference to 7.9, because that's a loaded number.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I don't mean anything by it.

I mean, you are aware that in some years, Union has sold in excess of 7.9 PJs of space on a short-term basis?

So if we do look at B3.4, do you have that handy, sir?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I am trying to catch up.  Excuse me.

MR. SMITH:  Take your time.

You're right.  I was thinking of 3.40.  3.4.  3.4.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  No, that's not the one I was looking -– oh, yes, sorry.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  So if you look at 3.4, and I am looking at the line 14:

"Subsequent to the NGEIR decision, Union has sold 8.7, 9.5 and 10.1 PJs of space on a short-term basis."

Do you see that?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Correct.  Never exactly 7.9.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And I have no doubt that you feel that the cost attributed to the short-term account should be the $599 million from the cost study, but would you agree with me that the effect of your proposal is that Union is selling somewhere between 7.9 and 10.1 PJs of space on a short-term basis, and what is being recorded as a cost against that is demand costs, which were forecast on a sale of just two PJs of space?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I have to disagree with you.

MR. SMITH:  That's the -- I am not asking you whether you think that's a proper outcome.

I am asking you whether or not that is the outcome that you are –-

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I disagree with the premise.  I disagree with the statement of the outcome.

Union is getting a share of the margins on all short-term optimization activities, based on the ratio determined in the NGEIR decision.  And my reading of the NGEIR decision is that the Board had actually assumed that all of the firm costs of service, fixed costs of service, that was not being paid for by the utility business was going to be in the -- paid for entirely by the non-utility business.

That's how they came up with the 79/21 sharing.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  I understand that that's your interpretation of it.

I just want you to agree, sir –-

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And that's why I couldn't agree with your statement.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think it's fairly evident from a mathematical perspective that the cost you are attributing to that account as a result of your proposal is you are removing out of the short-term account all of the costs above $5.99 million that were -- there are no demand-related costs above the $599,000 left as a result of your proposal, correct?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  They haven't gone away.  All I am saying is that my reading of the NGEIR decision is that it was assumed there were two buckets.  There was a utility storage bucket; there was a non-utility storage bucket.  The discussion having to do with short-term storage refers to the fact that this is -- these are short-term services that are generated by selling temporarily unutilized or temporarily available space from both buckets, but you can't tell which bucket it came through because, actually, the buckets are together.

So the allocation of the margin on those transactions should be based on which cost -- how much cost has been allocated to each bucket, as measured by the allocation of rate base from the 2007 cost study, which is actually assuming that that $599,000 of cost is in the long-term bucket, not the short-term bucket, from my interpretation.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Ms. Sebalj?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  I know I indicated that I didn't have any questions, but I just wanted to follow up quickly on a point, a discussion you were having with Mr. Smith, and it relates to, if you can pull up K2.3, which is Union's cross-examination material.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  Page 74, at the top of that page.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  K2.3 --


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, K2.3, tab 4 --


MR. ROSENCRANZ:  -- tab 4.  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- page 74, which is the --


MR. ROSENCRANZ:  Oh, okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- excerpts from the NGEIR decision.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.  I fell behind.

MS. SEBALJ:  No, I actually didn't tell you the tab.  You would have had to guess.

The first -- you had a discussion about that first sentence, which reads:

"We also conclude that Union's current cost allocation study is adequate for the purposes of separating the regulated and unregulated costs and revenues for rate-making purposes."

And I believe you indicated to Mr. Smith that you felt that the back end of that sentence was important, which was "costs and revenues for rate-making purposes", and then you had a subsequent discussion about the fact that Union should be required to essentially come back and reallocate, that this wasn't the end of the story with respect to the separation of Union's assets into utility and non-utility.

And I'm just wondering if you can -- I guess first, can you correct me if I am wrong in any of that discussion or if I'm misquoting you?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think that was a fair statement of my interpretation of what the Board was thinking.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I am just wondering what that would look like?  So would that not mean that the Board would have required Union to come in on some regular basis, probably yearly, or I am not sure when -- maybe you can qualify that for me -- to do this reallocation between utility and non-utility?  Basically this is the first we're sort of -- Board Staff is hearing of this interpretation, and so we are just wondering when this would have occurred other than today.  And maybe that's your answer.  But up until now nothing has happened, and I am not sure that the Board prescribed anywhere in this decision a process for reallocation, so I am just wondering in your view what that would look like.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My interpretation is that that allocation would be done when you next had a rate case, once you next had to reset rates.  At that point in time you would need to set the utility rates for storage.  That would be based on the legacy plant, because clearly I am agreeing that anything that was constructed -- added after NGEIR's incremental storage plant and that is clearly non-utility.

And there would be a reallocation.  As I said, in the 2007 case it was based on an estimate of 9.2 requirement.  My interpretation is when you got to the next rate case, if it was -- excuse me, 92.  If it was 95, that's the amount of that legacy plant that you would allocate.

MS. SEBALJ:  And so it would go up or down in every rate case --


MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's my understanding of the Board's interpretation.  Now, if there is a good reason to do it differently, and Union has come up with a reason why it makes sense from an accounting standpoint to allocate -- for them to do a cost study for the 100 PJs, full 100 PJs, at the next -- which go in effect the next PJs -- this next rate case, with an adjustment to essentially back that out, I can see that that would work also, back out the extra cost, and --


MS. SEBALJ:  Why the 100 PJ cap then?  Why wouldn't you just be able to set it at whatever Union currently needed for in-franchise to be reset on an every-rate-case basis?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  And my understanding is it would
be -- it would be reset on an every-rate-case basis.  However, they were concerned that there should not be a clawback, that there should be some stability to the long-term services that were sold and had been sold from that space, from those assets.

MS. SEBALJ:  So, sorry, I just consulted with my smarter colleagues, and he's asking what is the 100 PJ cap then, but I think you just answered that, which is just making sure that it's always -- what, in your view, is the 100 PJ cap?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  My reading of the NGEIR decision is that it would start at 92.1.  It could then go up and down over time, that there was some flexibility built into that, that anything that is not being used would be a non-utility asset and could be marketed in a non-utility basis.

If there was adjustment up, it could continue to adjust up, but it could never go over 100 PJs.  So it was meant to be a cap.  The discussion in the NGEIR decision is that it would be unreasonable to not allow for some market growth based on the expectation at that time that there would be cost-based services, storage services, for the reasonable needs of the utility customers, but they felt that there should not be a -- it should not be undetermined that all that space could be grabbed back by the in-franchise customers.


And I think that they were informed to a large extent by testimony from Enbridge and Gaz Met, that they thought that it was important that they not be at risk for losing storage that they had been using for many, many years and had come to rely on.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are all of our questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on that last point, just, again, I'll take you to the same tab, the same -- K2.3.  Can I just ask you, Mr. Rosenkranz, what the significance you think is in the -- on page 83 of the NGEIR decision there is a discussion, and it goes to the last point that you were making about the Board being concerned of not having some flexibility for future needs.

And in the first full paragraph, halfway through it, there is analysis there in the Board's reasoning about the rate of time that would be -- the 100 cap would be utilized, and there is a projections there based on two different -- a high and a low annual growth rates, .5 percent and up to 2 percent, and it gives time extensions or time window there as early as 2016 or as late as 2024, depending on the growth rate.

What is the -- in your mind, what is the significance of that -- those projections or what the Board was intended to stipulate with those projections?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  I think the Board was trying to strike a balance between the interests of making storage available in the non-utility market and -- but also protecting the interests of the in-franchise customers so that they wouldn't too soon come to the situation where they had used up all their cost-based space.

I think they were striking the balance between them.  The parties were saying:  No, we had the understanding that we would always have access to cost-based storage space, and the people on the other side saying:  No, it's unreasonable to lock that up.  You have to let the market work.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Thanks, Mr. Chairman.
Re-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


Just a couple of questions, Mr. Rosenkranz.

If you go to Mr. Smith's material, the NGEIR decision, which I think is tab 4, and it's at page 74, and Ms. Sebalj was referring to this section, as well.

Mr. Smith had put the first sentence to you in his examination, and then -- but he didn't put the second, which is:

"The Board agrees with the Board hearing team that it is important to ensure that there is no cross-subsidization between regulated and unregulated storage."

Did that concept inform your recommendations?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  In a large way, and that, again, that has to do with the Board's basic principle that optimization revenue or optimization margins should belong to the parties who paid for the space that was used to create those margins.

The fact that optimization margins had been -- or optimization space, or I think better saying, services, was supported by assets that had been paid for both by the utility and non-utility business, that it's important that the allocation of the optimization margins go back to the parties that made -- paid for the assets that made that possible.

With that regard, there seems to be a weakness of the NGEIR decision with respect to this resource optimization that's sold in the long-term market.  It seems clear that that that's -- to my mind, that those are services that are created by space encroachment on the entire storage facility, but also adding other services to the entire storage facility, and that there should be recognition that if all of the underlying costs aren't allocated to the utility business, that there should be, there needs to be, some recognition of sharing of those margins.

And that seems to be a gap in the NGEIR decision.

Based on our experience in the last several months, I expected the Board was not aware of this activity.  We were not aware of it until we got into the -- I shouldn't say we -- we first became aware of it when we got the Black & Veatch report, where the only way to make the long-term storage services match up with the long-term storage physical space was to identify this resource optimization.

So to my mind, as part of the no cross-subsidization, is making sure that the assets that the in-franchise customers are paying for, those assets are optimized.  If there is money to be made in the market that can be recouped and used to reduce the cost to utility customers, that should be done, and that it should come back to the right place.

MR. THOMPSON:  And lastly, Mr. Smith was asking you:  Is there anywhere in the NGEIR decision where the Board talked about a revised cost allocation?  Or words to that effect.

I wanted to draw your attention -- again, it's at the same tab.  It's at page 102 of the NGEIR decision, and it's in the first full paragraph, and it's the second and third sentences there:

"As and when Union requires more capacity for in-franchise needs up to the 100 PJ cap or adds storage capacity or enhances deliverability of its storage facilities, the cost allocation will presumably change.  Once a revised cost allocation has been approved in the Union rates case, the basis on which margins on short-term storage transactions are shared will also change."

What did you make of that sentence, in terms of how you were describing the NGEIR decision?

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  That's very much what I was trying to think of, in terms of one of the passages that very strongly put in my mind the idea that there would be subsequent cost allocation studies done, and that the utility asset would change over time and that the 100 PJs is a maximum; it's not a definition of the utility asset.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

Those are my questions in re-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Okay.

Thank you very much, Mr. Rosenkranz.

MR. ROSENKRANZ:  Thank you.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  So as it stands now, Mr. Smith, you will be returning tomorrow morning at 9:30 and providing your argument-in-chief?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Yes, absolutely.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Has there been any discussion as to a subsequent schedule for the other submissions?

MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps I will speak to that, Mr. Chairman.

My preference would be a week Monday.  So I don't know how many days that is, but I think Mr. Shepherd sent an e-mail that was to a similar effect.  And I believe the other intervenors are aligned with that proposition, if that's acceptable to the Board.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I don't have a calendar handy.  What is the date on a week from Monday.

MS. SEBALJ:  I think it's October 3rd.

And we did receive e-mails from both Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Aiken, indicating that that was preferable.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And then reply, Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Well, I think we will need at least a week, and if my friend Mr. Thompson is taking 10 days, having seen the size of his submission in the Dawn Gateway proceeding I should presumably ask for 10, as well, out of caution.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be fine.

Okay.  So we will take that as the schedule, Ms. Sebalj.  Ten days after the 3rd takes us to the 13th, and that would be the following Thursday?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, October 13th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, with that, we are adjourned for the day, and we will resume at 9:30 tomorrow morning with argument-in-chief.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:15 p.m.
PAGE  

